Role of the oncoprotein FOXM1 in NPM-ALK+ anaplastic large cell lymphoma

by

Moinul Haque

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

# MOLECULAR PATHOLOGY

# Department of Laboratory Medicine and Pathology

University of Alberta

© Moinul Haque, 2019

#### ABSTRACT

Forkhead Box M1 (FOXM1) is a transcription factor which belongs to the evolutionary conserved Forkhead protein family. FOXM1 has been implicated in the pathogenesis of several solid and hematologic cancers. In this study, the significance of FOXM1 in NPM-ALK-positive anaplastic large cell lymphoma (NPM-ALK+ ALCL)—a childhood cancer was assessed, with a focus on how FOXM1 interacts with NPM-ALK, a key oncogenic driver in these tumors. FOXM1 was highly expressed in NPM-ALK+ ALCL cell lines, patient samples and tumors arising in NPM-ALK transgenic mice. FOXM1 was found localized in the nuclei and confirmed to be transcriptionally active in NPM-ALK+ ALCL cells. Inhibition of FOXM1 in NPM-ALK+ ALCL cells using shRNA or a pharmacologic agent (thiostrepton) resulted in significant reductions in cell growth and soft-agar colony formation, which were associated with apoptosis and cell-cycle arrest. FOXM1 is functionally linked to NPM-ALK, as FOXM1 enhanced the phosphorylation of the NPM-ALK/STAT3 axis. NPM-ALK was found to influence the transcriptional activity of FOXM1. Specifically, FOXM1 failed to effectively bind to DNA when NPM-ALK was siRNA-silenced or when kinase-dead NPM-ALK variant was tested. Moreover, FOXM1 was found to coimmunoprecipitate with NPM-ALK, which was previously shown to exist as NPM-ALK:NPM1 heterodimers in the nuclei. Further studies showed that this binding of FOXM1 to NPM-ALK hinges on the meditator nucleophosmin (NPM1) and the phosphorylation status of NPM-ALK. In conclusion, this study identified FOXM1 as an important oncogenic protein in NPM-ALK+ ALCL. This study exemplified that NPM-ALK can exert oncogenic effects in the nuclei by regulating FOXM1 and illustrated an additional role of NPM1 in the context of NPM-ALK pathobiology.

## PREFACE

This thesis is an original work by Moinul Haque. The research project of which this thesis is a part, received research ethics approval from the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board, Project Name: STUDY OF BIOLOGY OF ALK IN HUMAN ALK+ CANCERS, No. Pro00062737, Feb 17th of 2016). Some of the research conducted for this thesis forms part of an international research collaboration with Professor Suzanne Turner at the University of Cambridge and Professor Adam Karpf at the University of Nebraska Medical Center, with Professor Raymond Lai being the lead collaborator at the University of Alberta.

The research in this thesis has been accepted for publication as: "Haque M, Li J, Huang Y, Almowaled M, Barger C, Karpf A, Wang P, Chen W, Turner S and Lai R. NPM-ALK is a key regulator of the oncoprotein FOXM1 in ALK-positive anaplastic large cell lymphoma." *Cancers* 2019. I wrote the manuscript, performed most of the experimental work and prepared data and figures. J.L., W.H. and M.A. provided assistance with preparation of the data and figures, particularly with Figures 1B and 1C; Figure 3B; Figure 4C and 4H and Figure 5A. C.J.B. and A.R.K. provided material including the FOXM1 expression and reporter vectors and provided significant support for the project. A.R.K., P.W., and W.C. provided intellectual input into the preparation of the study and contributed to the writing of the manuscript and provided necessary reagents, namely the murine tumor sections expressing NPM-ALK. R.L. supervised the study and contributed significantly to the writing of the manuscript.

iii

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincerest gratitude and appreciation to these following individuals:

To Dr Raymond Lai, thank you for sharing your passion for science, support for my project, advices and humor about life over these last couple years. It was an honour to have been a part of your laboratory.

To Dr Carlos Velazquez and Dr Yangxin Fu, I am very grateful for your advice and feedback throughout my master's program.

To Dr Jing Li, without your continuous help and support this work would not have been possible. I greatly admire your work ethics and kindness. Wish you all the success in the future and I hope our paths cross again someday.

To my current and previous lab members, Chuquan, Bardes, Dongzhe, Winston, Meaad, Justine, Krishna, Nidhi, Raheem and Cheng, thank you sincerely for your friendship. Sharing the laughter and tears with you made this journey an amazing experience.

To Amir (Dr Velazquez Lab) and Sadat (Dr Lavasanifer Lab), thank you for your friendship, kindness and generosity. Many thanks for your helpful advices and sharing your reagents.

Lastly, I greatly indebted to my parents and my older brother for your continuous love, encouragement and support.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chap	ter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 1. 1. 1. 1. 1.	Forkhead Overview.1.1FOX Protein Family.1.2Forkhead Box M1 Discovery.1.3Role of FOXM1 in Cell Cycle Regulation.1.4Expression of FoxM1 in Early Development.1.5Expression and Biological Role of FoxM1 in T-Cell Development.	1 3 4 5 7 7
1.2	Expression of FOXM1 in Cancers	10
1.	2.1 Expression of FOXM1 Solid Tumors	10
1.	2.2 FOXM1 in Hematological Malignancies Angiogenesis	14
1.	2.3 FOXM1 as a Prognostic Factor	16
1.:	2.4 FOXM1 Inhibitors	17
1.3	Anaplastic Lymphoma Kinase Overview	19
1.	3.1 Background of ALK	19
1.	3.2 Genetic Abnormalities of ALK	21
1.	3.3 ALK in Anaplastic Large Cell Lymphoma	22
1.	3.4 NPM-ALK and Other ALK Fusion Partners in ALCL	23
1.	3.5 NPM-ALK Signalling Pathways	25
1.	3.6 ALK in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer	28
1.	3.7 ALK IN Uther Cancers	28
1.	3.8 ALK INNIDITORS	28
1.4	Rationale and Objectives of Study	30
Chap	ter 2: Materials and Methods	31
21	Cell Lines and Tissues	32
22	Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells Isolation	33
2.3	Pharmacological Inhibitors and Treatment Conditions	33
2.4	Immunohistochemistry	34
2.5	Cell Viability	35
2.6	RNA Extraction and cDNA Synthesis	35
2.7	Reverse Transcriptase Polymerase Chain Reaction	36
2.8	Quantitative Real Time PCR	36
2.9	Plasmids and siRNA	37
2.10	General Transfections	37
2.11	Lentivirus Preparation and Transduction of Lymphomas	38
2.12 2.12	Flow Cylometric Analyses	39 10
2.13	Western Blotting	.40 <u>4</u> 0
2.15	Antibodies	41

2.16	Co-Immunoprecipitation	41
2.17	Luciferase Assay	.42
2.18	Subcellular Fractionation and DNA Pulldown Assay	.43
2.19	Chromatin Immunoprecipitation	.44
2.20	Statistical Analyses	.45
Chap	ter 3: Results	.46
3.1	Assessment of FOXM1 Protein Levels in NPM-ALK+ ALCL Cells	.47
3.2	Expression of FOXM1B and FOXM1C Isoforms in NPM-ALK+ ALCL Cells	.49
3.3	Transcriptional Activity of FOXM1 in NPM-ALK+ ALCL	51
3.4	FOXM1 Immunocytochemistry and Immunohistochemistry in NPM-ALK+ ALCI	L
	Cases	.53
3.5	Inhibition of Expression of FOXM1 Inhibits Cell growth and the Clonogenicity o	of
	NPM-ALK+ ALCL Cell Line	.58
3.6	Pharmacological Inhibition of FOXM1 on the Growth and Clonogenicity of NPM	/I-
	ALK+ ALCL Cell Lines	67
3.7	FOXM1 on the Phosphorylation of NPM-ALK and STAT3	
	Pathway	7
3.8	Influence of NPM-ALK on Transcriptional Activity of	
	FOXM1	76
3.9	Role of NPM1 in Mediating NPM-ALK—FOXM1	
	binding	80

Cha	Chapter 4: Discussion	
		07
4.1	General Discussion	87
4.2	Expression of FOXM1 in Aberrant and Important for NPM-ALK+ ALCL	88
4.3	FOXM1 Regulates the NPM-ALK/STAT3 Axis	90
4.4	NPM-ALK Regulates FOXM1 transcriptional activity	91
4.5	Limitations	95
4.6	Future Directions	96
4.7	Conclusions	97
Defe		00
кете	rences	98

# LIST OF FIGURES

# Chapter 1 – Introduction

1.1	Structure of Forkhead Box M1	6
1.2	The expression and activity of FoxM1 through T-cell development	9
1.3	Regulators and biological impact of FOXM1 in cancer	.18
1.4	Structure of NPM-ALK	.24
Chap	oter 3 - Results	
3.1	Western blot analysis of FOXM1 protein expression in NPM-ALK+ ALCL cell	
	lines	.48
3.2	RT-PCR for transcript levels of FOXM1B and FOXM1C mRNA	.50
3.3	FOXM1 subcellular fractionation and protein activity	.52
3.4	Immunocytochemistry of FOXM1 protein in NPM-ALK+ ALCL cell lines	.54
3.5	Immunohistochemistry of FOXM1 expression in a case of NPM-ALK+ ALCL	
	tumor	.55
3.6	Immunohistochemistry of FOXM1 expression in a case of tonsil	.56
3.7	Immunohistochemistry of FOXM1 expression in NPM-ALK+ mouse tumors	57
3.8	FOXM1 mRNA and protein levels following shRNA mediated knockdown	.59
3.9	Cell viability of SupM2 and UCONN-L2 following knockdown of FOXM1	.61
3.10	Assessment of apoptosis in NPM-ALK+ cells following FOXM1 knockdown	63
3.11	Assessment of cell division following knockdown of FOXM1	.64
3.12	Soft agar colony formation assay following knockdown of FOXM1	.65
3.13	Sensitivity to doxorubicin following knockdown of FOXM1	.66
3.14	Thiostrepton reduces cell viability and FOXM1 levels in NPM-ALK+ ALCL	.68
3.15	Luciferase reporter activity of FOXM1 following its inhibition by thiostrepton	.69
3.16	Assessment of apoptosis by Annexin V and PI staining following thiostrepton	
0.47		70
3.17	Thiostrepton negatively influences NPM-ALK+ cell lines	71
3.18	Effect of FOXM1 knockdown on signalling pathways in NPM-ALK+ ALCL	73
3.19	FOXIMI overexpression alters the signalling of NPM-ALK.	.75
3.2U 2.21	Effect of NDM ALK activation on the transprintional activity of EOXM1	.//
3.ZI	Influence of NPM ALK activation on the transcription as assessed by chromatin	10
J.ZZ	immuporrecipitation	70
3 23	Evaluation of EOXM1 and NPM-ALK as evaluated by reciprocal co-	19
5.25	immunoprecipitation	81
3 24	Influence of NPM1 on the interaction between FOXM1 and NPM-ALK	83
3 25	Evaluation of FOXM1 binding to known AI K forms in various human cancers	84
3.26	Influence of NPM-ALK activation on the binding with FOXM1	85
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

# Chapter 4 – Discussion

4.1	Hypothesized	depiction of	interaction	between	NPM-ALK	and FOXM1	94
-----	--------------	--------------	-------------	---------	---------	-----------	----

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- AKT Protein Kinase B
- ALCL Anaplastic Large Cell Lymphoma
- ALK Anaplastic Lymphoma Kinase
- ALK+ ALCL Anaplastic Lymphoma Kinase Positive Anaplastic Large Cell Lymphoma
- ALK- ALCL Anaplastic Lymphoma Kinase Negative Anaplastic Large Cell Lymphoma
- AML Acute Myeloid Leukemia
- AURKA Aurora A Kinase
- B-ALL B-cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia
- CCNB1 Cyclin B1
- CDC25 Cyclin Division Cycle 25
- CDK Cyclin Dependent Kinase
- CENPA Histone H3-like centromeric protein A
- CENPB Histone H3-like centromeric protein C
- CENPF Histone H3-like centromeric protein F
- CFSE Carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester
- CHOP Cyclophosphamide, Doxorubicin, Vincristine, and Prednisone
- CREB cAMP response element-binding protein
- CSK1 Serine/threonine-protein Kinase csk1
- DLBCL Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma
- DMNT1 DNA (cytosine-5)-methyltransferase 1
- DN Double Negative
- DP Double Positive
- EML4-ALK Echinoderm microtubule-associated protein-like 4 Anaplastic Lymphoma Kinase
- FDA Federal Drug Administration
- FDBD Forkhead DNA Binding Domain
- FHRE Forkhead Response Element

FOX - Forkhead Box

FoxM1 - Forkhead Box M1 (mouse)

FOXM1 - Forkhead Box M1 (human)

GFP - Green Fluorescent Protein

HDAC1 - Histone Deacetylase 1

- ISP Immature Single Positive
- JAK/STAT Janus Kinases/Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription proteins
- JNK1 c-Jun N-terminal Kinases
- LTK Leukocyte Tyrosine Kinase
- MAPK (RAS-RAF-MEK-ERK) Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Cascade

MK - Midkine

- MMP-2 Matrix Metalloproteinase-2
- MMP-9 Matrix Metalloproteinase-9
- MYC Myelocytomatosis protein
- NPM1 Nucleophosmin 1
- NPM-ALK Nucleophosmin 1-Anaplastic Lymphoma Kinase
- NRD N-terminal Negative Regulatory Domain
- NSCLC Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer
- **OD** Oligomerization Domain

OS - Overall Survival

- PARP Poly-ADP Ribose Polymerase
- PBMC Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells
- PI3K Phosphoinositide 3-kinase
- PLK1 Polo Like Kinase 1
- PTN Pleiotrophin
- RB Retinoblastoma Protein
- SCF Skp1/Cullin/F-box protein
- SHP1 Src homology region 2 domain-containing phosphatase-1

- shRNA Short Hairpin RNA
- siRNA Short Interfering RNA
- SKP2 S-phase Kinase Associated Protein 2
- SOX2 -SRY (sex determining region Y)-box 2
- STAT3 Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 3
- TAD C-terminal Acidic Transactivating Domain
- TCR T Cell Receptor
- TKD Tyrosine Kinase Domain
- TPM3 Tropomyosin 3
- VGEF Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor

**Chapter 1: Introduction** 

## 1.1 FOXM1 Overview

Forkhead Box M1 (FoxM1) is a member of the *FOX* transcription factor family and was the originally named as Trident during its first discovery in 1997 (1). FoxM1 was originally identified as an important factor driving the proliferation of lymphocytes (2). Since then, FOXM1 has been identified to have a variety of functions in mammalian biology and possessing important roles in human disease (reviewed in (3, 4)). In the first section of this Chapter, the following items will be discussed: pertinent information about FOXM1's protein family; FOXM1 structure and isoforms; FOXM1's regulation of the cell cycle; FOXM1 in the context of development; FOXM1's role of solid and hematopoietic cancers; diagnostic, prognostic and therapeutic inhibition surrounding FOXM1 will be discussed.

#### 1.1.1 FOX Protein Family

Forkhead box (FOX) family of proteins are a group of evolutionary conserved transcription factors (5). The name forkhead originates from the *Drosophila melanogaster* gene fork head (*fkh*) (6). Hundreds of *Fox* genes have been identified in mammals which have been further classified into over 40 subfamilies (7). This ranges from *FoxA* to *FoxP*, with each gene subfamily possessing a unique influence in mammalian cell biology (8). The shared feature between *Fox* genes is the highly conserved ~100-residue forkhead DNA-binding domain (FDBD), usually located in the center of the protein (5). The FDBD binds the Forkhead binding elements (FHRE) in mammalian genomes (5). The FDBD consists of three  $\alpha$ -helices (H1, H2 and H3), three  $\beta$ -sheets (S1, S2 and S3) and two wing regions (W1 and W2) which borders the third  $\beta$ -sheet. These domains are arranged as such: H1–

S1–H2–turn–H3–S2–W1–S3–W2. The two wing regions flank the third helix H3, such of that as a butterfly, which is why Fox proteins are termed to contain the winged-helix motif (5). Besides the FDBD, *Fox* genes do not share significant sequence similarity elsewhere in their genes (5). Due to this reason, *Fox* genes display a set diverse set of evolutionary functions. For example, *Fox* genes control multiple aspects of embryonic development, including cell cycle progression, differentiation of T lymphocytes and formation of body structures such as the inner ear (7, 8). Alterations of *FOX* genes in humans can result in a range of phenotypes in disease, including cancer formation, glaucoma and language impediments (7, 8).

#### 1.1.2 Forkhead Box M1 Discovery

Structurally, the FOXM1 protein contains the N-terminal negative regulatory domain (NRD), winged helix DNA binding domains, and C-terminal acidic transactivating domains (TAD) (3, 5, 9). Various cellular proteins, in some cases FOXM1 itself, bind and modify the NRD/TAD domains through phosphorylation or other modifications, which fine tune FOXM1 transcriptional activity. The consensus sequence of FOXM1 through which it binds FHRE is believed to be AT/CAAAAT/CA; T/C are interchangeable (3, 10).

Three FOXM1 isoforms have been identified: a, b, c (11, 12). The difference between the isoforms are due to alternative splicing of two exon cassettes (A1 and A2) . *FOXM1A* contain the additional exons A1 and A2, whereas *FOXM1C* contains only the A1 exon. *FOXM1B* does not contain either exons. The presence of the A2 domain in the FOXM1A protein interferes with its ability to bind DNA. Thus, FOXM1A is inactive as it fails to

activate transcription. *FOXM1C*, contains one of the isoforms is partially active. *FOXM1B* which doesn't possess either of these exons is believed to be the isoform that is most transcriptionally active (11, 12).

#### 1.1.3 Role of FOXM1 in Cell Cycle Regulation

FOXM1 was originally identified as an essential factor for cell-cycle regulation (2). The expression of FOXM1 is normally restricted in proliferating cells, and its expression is completely absent in quiescent and differentiated cells (13). In normal cells, the expression of FOXM1 is tightly regulated, often requiring some form of an external stimulus from an upstream signal cascade for it to become activated (13). During cell cycle progression, the presence of FOXM1 expression is noticeable starting from late G1 and sustained throughout the S, G2 and M phases (14). The expression of FOXM1 is highest during the G2 and M phases. During this period, FOXM1 controls the expression and activity of cell- genes governing the cell cycle such as of CDC25A/B, CCNB1, PLK1 and AURKA (15). FOXM1 also controls the transcription of SKP2 and CKS1, to form the Skp1/cullin/F-box protein (SCF) complex (16-18). By doing so, FOXM1 can dictate for the ubiquitinylation and degradation of cell cycle inhibitors. FOXM1 also controls the expression of genes responsible for the integrity of chromosomes and segregation during mitosis such as CENPA, CENPB and CENPF (16). Therefore, it is no surprise that the most common phenotype observed with the ablation of FOXM1 is mitotic cell deathchromosomal misalignment and duplication defects, lack of spindle formation, cytokinesis failure—as cells are unable to properly conduct cell division (19).

The transcriptional activity of FOXM1 is repressed by ubiquitination and at residues located at the N-terminal region during in G1 and early S phases (9, 20). In contrast, phosphorylation of FOXM1 at its C-terminus, such as the Thr596 residue, by cyclin-CDK complexes initiate its transcriptional activity (21-23). Phosphorylation of FOXM1 at this residue recruits the transcriptional co-activator proteins p300/CREB, which enhances FOXM1 transcriptional activity (22, 23). Furthermore, phosphorylation of FOXM1 via Raf/MEK/MAPK pathway at serine residues (S331 and S701) stimulates FOXM1 nuclear translocation and thereby its transcriptional activity between the G2 and M phases (14). Lastly, the expression of FOXM1 forms a positive feedback loop as FOXM1 is dependent on one of its downstream targets, PLK1, for its phosphorylation and activation (24, 25). The structure and regulatory regions are demonstrated in Figure 1.1



**Figure 1.1 Structure of Forkhead Box M1 (FOXM1).** The regulatory elements NRD (N-terminal Repressor Domain), Forehead DNA Binding Domain (FBDB) and Transactivating

Domain (TAD) are highlighted with black boxes. Important regulatory residues at serine and threonine sites have been indicated.

#### **1.1.4 Expression of FoxM1 in Early Development**

During embryonic development of animals, such as in mice, the expression of *FoxM1* is believed to be ubiquitous; *FoxM1* null mice are embryonically lethal (26). The human FOXM1 and mouse FoxM1 ortholog share 79% sequence similarity (1). As an organism is conceived the expression levels of FoxM1 in most tissues decrease and its expression becomes spatially restricted (14, 27). In adult mice, the expression of *FoxM1* is only present in tissues with high proliferative index such as the colon, small intestine, testis and thymus (14). In addition, FOXM1 expression can be found in the progenitor cells of almost all which show high self-renewal capacity (28). In contrast, FOXM1 is usually not present in quiescent or terminally differentiated cells (29). It is held that in normal tissue, only the FOXM1c isoform can be identified (14).

Hou *et al* (2015) identified that the deletion of FoxM1 from hematopoietic stem cells significantly affected the amount of white blood cells, including lymphocytes (29). Ablation of FoxM1 resulted in a delayed entry of cells into S and M phases of the cell cycle (29). However, deletion of FoxM1 was not associated with a reduction of stem cell factors such as Sox2 or downstream target genes of  $\beta$ -catenin (29).

### 1.1.5 Expression and Biological Role of FoxM1 in T-Cell Development

A dynamic change of FoxM1 expression and activity occurs during the development of T lymphocytes. While FoxM1 is not present in early double negative (DN) T lymphocytes, characterized by the CD44+/CD25- cell markers, the expression of FoxM1 begins in the DN T cells when both CD44+/ CD25+ cell surface markers are acquired (30). During this stage of lymphocyte development, T-cells are actively proliferating in the medulla of the thymus (31). FoxM1 expression continues to increase throughout DN3 (CD44-/CD25+) and DN4 (CD44-/CD25-) stages of T-cell development (2). The expression level of FoxM1 reaches a peak when immature single positive (ISP) cells are produced (2). At this stage of T-cell development, cells are undergoing rapid cell division (31). The expression level of FoxM1 decreases as T lymphocytes reach the double positive (DP) CD4+/CD8+ stage, when cells are undergoing TCR $\alpha$  rearrangements (31). T cells do not possess high proliferation rates during the DP stage (31). As T lymphocytes undergo migrate and selection in the medulla of the thymus, the expression levels of FoxM1 disappears (2). FoxM1 is not present in mature CD4+/CD3+ or CD8+/CD3+ T cells (30). This process is summarized in Figure 1.2.

In resting peripheral blood lymphocytes (which are G0 cells), FoxM1 expression is not present (2). However, upon stimulation of lymphocytes with agents such as phytohaemagglutinin (PHA), FoxM1 expression can be significantly increased within 24 hours (2). This suggests that FoxM1 is important for dividing lymphocytes.

The activity of FoxM1 is tightly regulated during T cell development. The ablation of FoxM1 from different stages of T cell development in transgenic mice produces unique and somewhat unrelated effects (30). When FoxM1 deleted from DN cells (early stage, before the TCR mediated proliferation takes place between DN3 and DN4 stages, a 2-fold reduction takes place in the number of total and DP thymocytes (30). Interestingly,

8

the number of DN cells remains the same. Differences can only start to be seen when immature single positive cells are produced (30).



Figure 1.2 The expression and activity of FoxM1 through T-cell development.

*FoxM1* expression and activity begins in the double negative (DN) stages. Expression of *FoxM1* is at maximum during the immature Single Positive (ISP) cells where cells are either CD4+ and CD8+. The expression and activity of *FoxM1* are significantly lower following TCR Rearrangements during which period immature thymocytes undergo selection to become mature, differentiated CD4+ Helper T and CD8+ cytotoxic T cells.

## 1.2 Expression FOXM1 in Cancers

Research in the past last two decades have largely focused on the significance of FOXM1 in driving tumorigenesis. Recently, FOXM1 has been a popular topic in the molecular biology of cancer, as in the past five years alone, at least 70% of the publications involving FOXM1 has been published. Unlike most FOX proteins which contain role anti-apoptotic roles in cancer (8), the sustained expression of FOXM1 in cancer can regulate several oncogenic signalling molecules, giving cancer cells a proliferative and survival advantage (32). Indeed, in most cancer models, the blockade of FOXM1 through genetic and pharmacological means significantly reduces cancer growth potential (32). In this section, the expression of FOXM1 in solid tumors, hematological malignancies, prognostic, diagnostic and pharmacological inhibitors of FOXM1 will be discussed.

#### 1.2.1 FOXM1 in Solid Tumors

In cancer, FOXM1 was initially studied in the infamous HeLa (human cervical carcinoma) cell line (33). Since then, the presence of FOXM1 (presumably FOXM1b) has been noted in most human solid cancers. From breast cancer (with highest expression in triple negative breast cancer) (34-69), ovarian cancer (70-82), lung cancer (83-100), colon cancer (101-104), liver cancer (105-116), pancreatic cancer (104, 117-127), prostate cancer (128-133), glioblastoma (134-142) and neuroblastoma (143-147), FOXM1 expression has been confirmed in both primary cancer cells and in cell line models. The inhibition of FOXM1 through genetic modulators like siRNA/shRNA or through the chemical inhibitors of FOXM1, is usually associated with decreased in vitro cell growth,

proliferation, migration, invasion, self-renewal capacity, angiogenesis and in vivo tumor propagating ability in cell lines, mouse xenograft models and transgenic mouse models (4). Therefore, roles of FOXM1 in cancer fit the hallmarks of cancer development. Interestingly, while FOXM1 is found in many cancer types, genome wide studies have rarely associated genetic aberrations such as mutations or amplifications of FOXM1 in cancer (148).

FOXM1 contributes to cell proliferation and growth in most cancers. Some specific examples include the following: in lung, liver and colon cancer mouse models, deletion of the FOXM1 gene contributes to significantly decreased tumor size (4). FOXM1 knockdown mice formed significantly smaller tumor size and showed prolonged survival glioblastoma (134). The reduction of FOXM1 by siRNA/shRNA in various cancer cell lines (lung, prostate, liver, breast, colon and cervix) reduces cell proliferation and colony forming ability (4). In a hepatocellular carcinoma, constitutive enforced expression of FoxM1B did not induce cancer, however, the presence of FoxM1B resulted in significant proliferation of neoplastic cells following tumorigenesis (26). On the other hand, it has been known that xenografts containing *FoxM1* overexpression showed increased tumor number and size in liver, prostate and colon cancer models (4). These effects are likely since FOXM1 is a master regulation of cell cycle proteins, and its knockdown is associated with decreased expression of Cyclin A2, Cyclin B1, and Cdc25 phosphatases, and increased expression of the cell cycle inhibitors p21 Waf1/Cip1 and p27Kip1 (4). These findings indicate that the sustained expression of FOXM1 can be a mechanism by which oncogenes provide a proliferative advantage to cancer cells.

11

The reason why FOXM1 is found and activated in most cancer types could be due to its relationship with the p53 and Rb tumor suppressor pathways (149). It is a known fact that most human cancers have defects or mutations in the p53 and RB tumor suppressor pathways (150). FOXM1 has been found to be a gene that is directly repressed by the p53 pathway. Inhibiting the p53 pathways, activates FOXM1. Moreover, in turn activated FOXM1 can repress p53 (150). Likewise, FOXM1 is also repressed by the RB protein (151). Consequently, defects RB in turn activate E2F which has been shown to upregulate FOXM1. Furthermore, FOXM1 has been also shown to interact with and influence the localization of many other important signal transducers in cancer including that of STAT3 and  $\beta$ -catenin (139, 142, 152-154).

Apart from roles in proliferation, the expression of FOXM1 in cancer has been also associated with an inhibition of cell senescence. The downregulation of FOXM1 contributed to increased p53, p16 and p27Kip1 expression in a gastric cancer model (155). Furthermore, it has been shown that FOXM1 can override cellular senescence induced by hydrogen peroxide by upregulating the Myc/Bmi-1 pathway (156). Lastly, mouse fibroblasts with deleted FoxM1 experience spontaneous cellular senescence (155). FOXM1 has also noted to promote the Warburg effect and alter the biochemical pathways of metabolism (74, 157).

FOXM1 may also hold important functions in maintaining populations of cancer stem cells. The overexpression of FOXM1 suppressed oral keratinocyte differentiation and induced the expansion of stem cell-like cell (158). In another lung cancer model FoxM1

12

overexpression expanded the stem like Clara cells (159). In a neuroblastoma cell line, it was found that FoxM1 is involved in maintaining the tumorigenicity of neuroblastoma cells by upregulating the transcription factor SOX2 (143). Moreover, the expression of SOX2 by FOXM1 has been linked to chemoresistance in a glioblastoma model (141). Lastly, a report in a human teratocarcinoma model showed that FOXM1 was directly responsible for stem cell renewal and prevention of differentiation through the expression of the pluripotency genes Oct4, Nanog and Sox2 (160).

FOXM1 has roles in tissue injury repair through which it may contribute to cancer. Additionally, FOXM1 has been shown to modulate the levels of VEGF secretion which is responsible for angiogenesis in a brain, breast, gastric, hepatic, colon and pancreatic cancer model (119, 161-164). One study identified that FOXM1 can directly regulate expression of VGEF by binding to FHREs in its promoter region (165). that Lastly, FOXM1 contributes to cancer cell migration and metastasis by the induction of metalloproteinase proteins (MMP-2 and MMP-9) which aid in epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) and the spread of cancer cells. The regulation of MMP-2 and MMP-9 by FOXM1 has been revealed in numerous studies (84, 166-171). According to Chen et al (2013) FOXM1 also directly controls the expression of MMP-2 by binding to its promoter (167). In contrast, the expression of MMP-9 indirectly through its downstream target gene, JNK1 (172). Furthermore, FOXM1 was demonstrated to drive cancer metastasis in hepatocellular carcinoma by enhancing EMT. It was shown that in absence of Arf, FOXM1 enhances EMT through the PI3K/AKT pathway and influencing several cytoskeletal proteins (106, 173). Lastly, there has been several additional studies that the expression FOXM1 can

lower sensitivity of anti-cancer drugs. The overexpression of FOXM1 lead to the development of acquired drug resistance. It is believed that the interaction of FOXM1 with FOXO3a the PI3K/AKT pathway is often the point that is altered when drug resistance takes place (37, 174-176). The role of FOXM1 in cancer is summarized in Figure 1.3

### 1.2.2 FOXM1 in Hematological Malignancies

The expression and biological significance of FOXM1 in hematologic malignancies has not been extensively investigated. Few published studies have specifically addressed the functional importance of FOXM1 in hematologic cancers. These include precursor B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL) (177, 178), plasma cell myeloma (179), diffuse large B cell lymphoma (DBLCL) (180) or acute myeloid leukemia (AML) (181, 182). In these studies, experimental results from *FOXM1* knockout mice and *in vitro* studies in which FOXM1 was inhibited by a using pharmacologic agent such as thiostrepton, or gene knockdown support the concept that FOXM1 contributes to the oncogenicity of these cancers. Nonetheless, the mechanism by which FOXM1 mediates its oncogenic effects is not well-understood.

In the B-ALL study, FOXM1 was found to have high expression in the pre-B-cell receptor checkpoint but were found to be dispensable for normal B-cell development (177). Compared with normal B-cell populations, FOXM1 levels were found to be 2- to 60-fold higher in ALL cells. The high expression of FOXM1 was predictive of poor outcome in ALL patients (177). Furthermore, the study found that FOXO3A negatively regulates FOXM1 is negatively regulated by FOXO3A. The study found FOXM1 supports cell

survival, drug resistance, colony formation and proliferation in vitro, and promotes leukemogenesis in vivo (177).

In the plasma cell myeloma model, overexpression of FOXM1 prognosticates inferior outcome in a subset of patients (179). In experimental cell line models, the enforced expression of FOXM1 increased growth, survival, clonogenicity, and xenograft formation of myeloma cells, whereas knockdown of FOXM1 had the opposite effect (179). The study further found that FOXM1 coregulated and co-immunoprecipitated with of cyclin-dependent kinase 6 (CDK6) and NIMA-related kinase 2 (NEK2), which are important factors in cancer model (179).

In diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DBLCL) tumors, FOXM1 expression was detected in 84.6% and found to be positively associated with proliferative tumor marker Ki67, MMP-9 and SKP2 and negatively associated with p27 (183, 184). In cell line models, siRNA or thiostrepton treatment reduced expression of the tissue invasion markers MMP-2 and MMP-9 (183). Additionally, the knockdown of FOXM1 was found to decrease invasive and migratory capability, and induced caspase dependent apoptosis via activation of the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway (183).

In acute myeloid leukemia (AML), nuclear expression of FOXM1 was determined to be an independent clinical predictor of chemotherapeutic resistance using multivariate analysis (185). In cell line models, knockdown of FOXM1 significantly reduce the clonogenicity of AML cells; furthermore, in a transgenic mouse model mimicking AML, constitutive overexpression of FOXM1 in this model induces chemoresistance (185). The use of the proteasome inhibitor ixazomib, which reduces FOXM1 activity, synergized with the chemotherapy drugs cytarabine and 5-azacitidine in reducing tumor growth in these animal models (185).

### 1.2.3 FOXM1 as a Prognostic Factor

A recent meta-analysis of 23 studies has shown that FOXM1 overexpression is associated with poor prognosis of breast cancer, colorectal cancer, gastric cancer, hepatic cancer, lung cancer, melanoma, and ovarian cancer (186). The expression of FOXM1 was significantly associated with worse 3-year overall survival (OS) (OR = 3.30, 95% CI = 2.56 to 4.25, P < 0.00001) 5-year OS (OR =3.35, 95% CI = 2.64 to 4.26, P < 0.00001) and 10-year OS (OR = 5.24, 95% CI = 2.61 to 10.52, P < 0.00001) in all solid tumors (187). High expression level of FOXM1 also predicted advanced tumor stage. Therefore, FOXM1 could be a useful predictor of cancer progression and may be an effective therapeutic target for cancer treatment.

## 1.2.4 FOXM1 Inhibitors

Due to the above-mentioned roles of FOXM1 in human cancer, many inhibitors (small molecules and aptamers) are currently being investigated (4). As FOXM1 forms an autoregulatory loop, the inhibition of FOXM1 is associated with a decrease of protein levels over time (188). This is hypothesized due to the upregulation of a negative regulator of FOXM1 (189). Siomycin A was one of the first thiazole compounds to be identified as an inhibitor for FOXM1 (190). Siomycin A decreases the transcriptional activity of FOXM1 and reduces FOXM1 target gene expression (190, 191). Moreover, this compound can reduce clonogenicity of cancer cells and increase apoptosis (192). Thiostrepton, like Siomycin A is a thiazole antibiotic that has been commonly used in the literature to study FOXM1 (189, 191). Some studies have suggested that thiostrepton physically binds to FOXM1 (193). Other proteasome inhibitors such as MG-132 and Bortezomib inhibit the expression of FOXM1 (190). More recently, DNA aptamers of FOXM1 are being developed to inhibit the function of FOXM1 in human cells (194). In general, the inhibition of FOXM1 through these inhibitors showed reduced cell growth, induce apoptosis and reduce tumor volume when xenografts were made in nude mice. The role of FOXM1 in cancer is summarized in Figure 1.3

17



Figure 1.3 Regulators and biological impact of FOXM1 in cancer.

#### 1.3 Anaplastic Lymphoma Kinase Overview

Nearly three decades have passed since the discovery and identification of Anaplastic Lymphoma Kinase (ALK) as a potential cancer-causing gene (195). Years of research into the biology of ALK have resulted in significant clinical advancements for those afflicted with an ALK-implicated cancer. However, the current understanding of ALK continues to evolve as new research sheds light into the role of ALK in an increasing number of human cancers. It is now clear that there is a multi-faceted and complex mechanism through which ALK mediates oncogenesis (195). The targeting of ALK through specific small molecule inhibitors have been approved for ALK positive lung cancers due to their high efficacy and low toxicity, and ALK inhibitor therapy continues to be explored in preclinical and clinical models for several cancer types (195). In this section, the following items will be discussed: background of ALK; significance in human cancers with a focus on anaplastic large cell lymphoma (ALCL); signalling pathways deregulated in cancer; discussion of ALK inhibitors.

#### 1.3.1 Background of ALK

The name of ALK itself reveals details regarding its initial discovery and function. Initially, the high expression of ALK was discovered in ALCL, a rare type of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (196). This was a significant finding as ALK is not expressed in normal lymphoid cells and served as the ideal diagnostic marker to identify ALCL (197). It was soon found that ALK encoded for a receptor tyrosine kinase which possessed transformation ability when mutated (198).

Structurally, ALK belongs to the insulin receptor tyrosine kinase family (199), sharing the most sequence similarity to the leukocyte tyrosine receptor kinase (LTK) (200). The ALK Tyrosine Kinase Domain (TKD) is evolutionary conserved and contains the YxxxYY motif, which is also found in the Insulin receptor (200, 201). The full length ALK protein contains a ligand binding domain located extracellularly-composed of a low-density lipoprotein receptor domain class A region lying in between two meprin, A-5 protein, multiple receptor protein-tyrosine phosphatase mu regions-followed by a transmembrane domain, and an intracellular tyrosine kinase domain (201). Although ALK is still considered to be an orphan receptor, several ligands of ALK have been suggested such as pleiotrophin (PTN) and midkine (MK) (202, 203). PTN and MK were suggested to activate the mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK) and phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) pathways (202, 204). However, later studies failed to confirm that PTN and MK directly bind to ALK and have suggested an indirect mechanism through by which these ligands activate ALK (205). More recently, chains of heparin, FAM150A and FAM150B have also been suggested as novel ligands that activate the full length ALK receptor (206).

While ALK has been found to be evolutionarily conserved in mammals, suggesting a critical role in mammalian cells, its normal biological function is still not fully clear. In adults, the expression of ALK is only weakly present in certain regions of the brain, small intestine and testis (200, 207). Some studies in model organisms have provided insight that during embryonic development, ALK may have functional roles in the proliferation, survival and maturity of early neuronal progenitors (200, 208).

#### 1.3.2 Genetic Abnormalities of ALK

ALK has been recognized to possess a variety of genetic changes in cancer. These include chromosomal rearrangements, mutations, amplifications and increase of copy number (195). These changes often result in aberrant phosphorylation and constitutive activation or of ALK. Chromosomal rearrangements of ALK are the prevalent genetic abnormality found in ALK+ cancers, whereby the 3' located tyrosine kinase domain of ALK-at the proximity of exon 20 or within intron 19-is fused to the 5' portion of another corresponding gene (195). Common features of the 5' partner include constitutive expression and possessing protein domains that assist in ALK dimerization (209). Structural studies show that most chromosomal rearrangements of ALK result in ligand independent activation of the Tyrosine Kinase Domain (TKD) (209). It should be noted that not that all ALK fusion proteins possess the same degree of oncogenic potential as differences in the 5' partner impacts ALK's dimerization and signaling ability (210). Similarly, certain mutations of full length ALK have been associated with increased phosphorylation potential of ALK by making it ligand independent or by disrupting its auto-inhibitory function (210). Amplifications of ALK significantly increase the overall expression and activity thereby increasing its oncogenic potential (210). Increased copy number of ALK have been also suggested to increase the phosphorylation of ALK, however this does not always correlate with ALK protein expression (210).

21

#### 1.3.3 ALK in Anaplastic Large Cell Lymphoma

Anaplastic Large Cell Lymphoma was first discovered in 1985 and described as a neoplastic proliferation of lymphoid cells containing large and anaplastic cytology, sinusoidal growth pattern, and strong expression of Ki-1 antigen (CD30) (211). ALK+ ALCL is a type of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, which primarily affects children and young adults. ALK+ ALCL has higher prevalence in males and comprises about 10-30% of all pediatric lymphomas (212). During disease onset, swollen & enlarged lymph nodes (lymphadenopathy) are observed in the periphery, abdomen and mediastinum (chest). In some cases, extra nodal involvement with the bone, bone marrow and skin are also observed (212). However, the prognosis of ALK+ALCL is good as the five-year survival is around 85%, and for the most part is a curable disease (212). ALK+ ALCL is commonly treated with the CHOP regimen (cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, and prednisone) of chemotherapy (212).

ALK+ ALCL is believed to have originated from activated cytotoxic CD8+T cells, although some cases of ALK+ ALCL do not possess the T-cell antigens and are described as the "null" phenotype (213). In addition, ALK+ ALCL often show reduction or silencing in the expression of the CD3 and the T-cell receptor (TCR) complex. Around 80%-90% of ALK+ALCL show improper TCR gene rearrangement (212).

## 1.3.4 NPM-ALK and Other ALK Fusion Partners in ALCL

Morris et al (1994) was the first to discover a chromosomal rearrangement of ALK in an ALCL cell line through a positional cloning strategy (196). This was the (2;5)(p23;q35) chromosomal rearrangement, whereby Anaplastic Lymphoma Kinase ALK on 2p23 is fused with NPM1 on 2p23 (196). Nearly 80% of ALCL contain the NPM-ALK translocation, dubbed as NPM-ALK+ ALCL (214). It was shown that enforced expression of NPM-ALK caused transformation of fibroblasts in vitro and can caused lymphoma in *NPM-ALK/CD4* transgenic mice (215, 216). Additionally, the downregulation of NPM-ALK from ALK+ ALCL cell lines dramatically reduce their tumorigenic potential (217). These findings highlighted the of ALK in maintaining the growth and survival of the majority ALCL, due to which NPM-ALK has been dubbed as a major oncogenic driver.

Nucleophosmin 1 (NPM1) is a multifunctional protein that is ubiquitously expressed in mammalian cells (218). Its localization can be detected in both the cytoplasm, nucleus and nucleolus. The canonical understanding of NPM1 is in its role of ribosomal shuttling between the cytoplasm and the nucleus (218). However, it has been noted NPM plays other important roles in gene transcription, DNA repair and maintaining genomic stability (218). The N-terminus domain of NPM1 contains a coiled-coil oligomerization domain which is why NPM1 exists as a homodimer (218). Furthermore, this domain is also represented in NPM-ALK, allowing for the dimerization of NPM-ALK (218). Dimerization

of NPM-ALK results in its auto-phosphorylation, and therefore constitutive activation of the ALK TKD (209). The tyrosine 338, 342 and 343 are crucial phosphotyrosine residues of NPM-ALK (219). The mutation of even one these tyrosine residues to phenylalanine  $(Y \rightarrow F)$  results in partial loss of NPM-ALK phosphorylation, or total loss of activity such as in the triple FFF variant (219). Activation of NPM-ALK regulates numerous downstream signaling pathways that control key cellular processes such as cell cycle progression, survival, cell migration and invasiveness (220). Thus, the oncogenic potential of NPM-ALK is derived from both the dimerization ability of NPM1 and the kinase activity of ALK. The structure of NPM-ALK is shown in Figure 1.4.



**Figure 1.4 Structure of NPM-ALK**. The indicated light grey region is the Nucleophosmin region (NPM1) and the dark grey region is the Anaplastic Lymphoma Kinase (ALK) portion of NPM-ALK. The highlighted with black boxes are on the oligomerization domain of NPM1 and the tyrosine kinase domain of ALK. Important regulatory residues at tyrosine sites have been indicated.

Interestingly, unlike most fusion partners which display cytoplasmic localization, NPM-ALK displays both localization in both cytoplasmic and nuclear portions of the cell. This is attributed to NPM1, which contains a nuclear translocalization signal, allowing it to shuttle between the nucleus and cytoplasm (218). While this nuclear translocalization signal is missing from NPM-ALK, due to the oligomerization of NPM-ALK to NPM1, NPM-ALK is able to enter the nucleus (218, 221, 222). Thus, in the cytoplasm, NPM-ALK normally exists as NPM-ALK—NPM-ALK homodimers, while in the nucleus, NPM-ALK typically exists as NPM-ALK—NPM1 heterodimers (218).

Another significant fusion in ALK+ ALCL is TPM3-ALK, contributing to 12%-18% of ALK+ ALCL (223). Several other ALK fusion partners in ALCL have been identified at lesser frequencies (<2%) including TFG, TRK, CLTC, ATIC and TPM4 (214).

## **1.3.5 NPM-ALK Signalling Pathways**

NPM-ALK regulates a host of signalling pathways through which it mediates oncogenesis. The most commonly extensively studied are the JAK/STAT, PI3K/AKT and MAPK (RAS-RAF-MEK-ERK) pathways:

The activation of Signal Transduction and Activator of Transcription 3 (STAT3) by NPM-ALK is one of the most thoroughly studied pathways in ALK+ ALCL. NPM-ALK directly phosphorylates STAT3 at the Y705 residue (224). The phosphorylation of STAT3 leads to dimerization and nuclear localization upon which STAT3 can regulate numerous genes involved in cell proliferation (Cyclin D, cMYC, B-catenin) and cell survival (Bcl-2, Survivin) (224-228). Furthermore, the activation of STAT3 epigenetically silences the Src homology-2 domain containing protein tyrosine phosphatase 1 (SHP1), which is a negative regulator of the JAK/STAT pathway (229). Activation of STAT3 leads to methylation of the SHP1 (230). STAT3 achieves these functions by upregulating the gene transcription of DNA methyltransferase 1 (DNMT1) and the histone deacetylase 1 (HDAC 1) (231). Indeed, the inhibition of NPM-ALK dramatically impacts the phosphorylation and thereby activation of STAT3 in in ALK+ ALCL.

In the PI3K/AKT pathway, NPM-ALK binds p85 through its phosphorylated Y664 residue, resulting in the phosphorylation of PI3K, and ultimately the activation of the serine/threonine kinase AKT, also known as Protein Kinase B (232). The PI3K/AKT pathway enhances survival of ALK+ALCL cells by communicating anti apoptotic signals (232). Furthermore, activated NPM-ALK induces activation of the PI3K/AKT which results in the hyperphosphorylation and inactivation of the transcription factor FOXO3A (233). The inactivation of FOXO3A inhibits the transcription of the cell cycle progression negative regulator p27Kip1, further contributing to cell cycle progression (233).

Finally, NPM-ALK activates the MAPK pathways through the adapter proteins IRS-1, SHC and Grb-2 (208, 234, 235). RAS activation by NPM-ALK results into phosphorylation of AP-1 transcription factors complex. Ultimately, the effector proteins ERK1/2 proteins are phosphorylated and provide increased cell proliferation and cell viability in these tumors
through enhancing the expression of the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-xL and the cyclin dependent kinase CDK4 (236).

#### 1.3.6 ALK in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer

In 2007, the EML4-ALK chromosomal rearrangement was discovered in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) at a frequency of about 6.8% (237). The rearrangement occurs due to a small inversion of chromosome 2 which fuses the echinoderm microtubule-associated protein-like 4 (EML4) gene to ALK, also located on chromosome 2 (237). The EML4-ALK fusion is important to NSCLC diagnostically as it is usually mutually exclusive to EGFR, KRAS and ERBB2 mutations, which may suggest that these genes signal through similar pathways (238).

Interestingly, numerous EML4-ALK variants have been reported in NSCLC. These EML4-ALK variants differ in the location at where they are fused to ALK (239). Very much like NPM-ALK, studies in preclinical models that EML4-ALK possess strong oncogenic properties and ALK+ NSCLC are sensitive to its inhibition (240). Interestingly, several researchers have suggested that the EML4-ALK variants possess varying sensitivity to ALK inhibitors (238). Therefore, understanding the fusion partner of ALK is significant when studying an ALK rearranged cancer. Apart from EML4, other fusion partners of ALK in NSCLC occurring in lesser frequency include SEC31A, HIP1, KLC, KIF5B and TFG (241).

27

#### 1.3.7 ALK in Other Cancers

The expression of the full length ALK receptor is known to be present in many other cancer types including neuroblastoma, medulloblastoma, inflammatory myofibroblastic tumors, spitzoid tumors, ovarian and thyroid cancers (210). In these malignancies, mutations of ALK at specific residues have been found (210). These mutations result in constitutive phosphorylation of ALK without requiring a ligand molecule (210). For example, in neuroblastoma, mutations of the full length ALK are detected in about 7% of cases (242-245). In the case of familial neuroblastoma, over 50% of cases can be attributed to an ALK mutation (245). R1275Q is the most common germline mutation in familial neuroblastoma cases (244). Furthermore, the expression wild-type ALK has been widely demonstrated in several cancer types (210). In neuroblastoma, an estimated 50-90% of cases possess the expression of wild-type ALK, and the high expression of ALK is linked to poor prognosis (210). Although, whether ALK is an oncogenic driver in neuroblastoma and other cancer is highly disputed and is a subject of further study.

#### 1.3.8 ALK Inhibitors

More than a dozen ALK inhibitors have been created and investigated over the last decade (210). ALK inhibitors are generally small molecule compounds that interfere with the ATP binding cassette, in other words ATP competitive, of ALK's TKD. Thus, ALK is prevented from being phosphorylated. Crizotinib was the first ALK inhibitor to be approved

by the FDA as it showed superior effectivity and safety over conventional treatments (246). In one clinical trial, Crizotinib showed an overall response rate of 65% as compared to 20% in conventional based chemotherapies (247). In another clinical study, Crizotinib treated led to 10.9 months of progression free survival as compared 7 months in conventional therapy (248).

Unfortunately, resistance to Crizotinib was found to be a common feature in ALK positive NSCLC (210). While the exact reasons of resistance are fully understood, some mechanisms of resistance include secondary mutations within of the ALK kinase which prevent the drug's efficacy, amplifications of the fusion kinase, or activation of alternative or bypass signalling pathway(s) (210). Interestingly, the majority of Crizotinib resistant tumors remain sensitive to other ALK inhibitors. Due to this fact, structurally distinct second generation ALK inhibitors have been developed, some of which have been approved by the FDA. These drugs include Certinib and Alectinib, which can overcome drug resistance to Crizotinib (249, 250). In-vitro and in-vivo models have shown that secondary ALK inhibitors much greater specificity and potency towards ALK, albeit being slightly more toxic than Crizotinib (251). Second generation inhibitors also can cross the blood brain carrier and treat metastatic ALK-rearranged NSCLC (210). However, even second generation ALK inhibitors ultimately face resistance (252). As a result, third generation ALK inhibitors have been also developed and are currently under clinical trial. These include Lorlatinib, Brigatinib, ASP3026, Entrectinib and X-396 (210).

#### **1.4 Project Rationale and Objectives**

While FOXM1 has been studied extensively in solid malignancies, its functions and roles has not been determined in many hematologic cancers, including NPM-ALK+ ALCL. FOXM1 is known to have an important biological role during embryonic development as well as T-cell differentiation—the cells from NPM-ALK+ ALCL are believed to be derived. Thus, the role of this protein in this cancer could be of importance. It is possible for FOXM1 to be a downstream effector gene that is crucial in the pathogenesis of NPM-ALK+ ALCL. Furthermore, recent studies indicated FOXM1 and NPM-ALK could form a functional relationship based on numerous mutual interacting partners and convergent signalling pathways.

Based on these observations, I hypothesized that FOXM1 was an important oncogenic transcription factor required for the growth and survival of NPM-ALK+ ALCL cells. I further hypothesized that FOXM1 and NPM-ALK demonstrate protein-protein interaction, which influence on their respective function and activity (i.e phosphorylation and/or DNA binding).

The objective of this thesis was to: 1) evaluate the expression and nature of FOXM1 expression in NPM-ALK+ derived cancers 2) demonstrate the biological effect of NPM-ALK+ cancers upon knockdown and inhibition of FOXM1 3) ascertain any functional relationships (i.e protein-protein interactions) between the two oncoproteins NPM-ALK and FOXM1.

### Chapter 2: Methods<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Jing Li, Yung-Hsing Huang and Meaad Almowaled assisted with cell culture, western blotting, immunoprecipitations and lentiviral transductions

#### 2.1 Cell Lines and Tissues

All NPM-ALK+ ALCL and Jurkat cell lines were cultured in RPMI 1640 medium (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). HEK 293 and 293T cells were maintained in high glucose Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). Media were supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and 1% penicillin and streptomycin (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). All cell lines were maintained in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere at 37 °C. Standard tissue culture and aseptic techniques were always used when handling all cell lines.

Suspension cells were constantly maintained at a sub-confluent density, ~200,000-400,000 cells/ml. Roughly every 6 weeks, late passage NPM-ALK+ ALCL cells were discarded, and early passage suspension cells were thawed and grown for up to 2 weeks of recovery period before subject to experimentation. Adherent Cells were passaged at 80% confluence every 3-4 days and grown for maximum of 4 passages.

All doxycycline-inducible stable cell lines were maintained in 10% tetracycline approved fetal bovine serum (Clonetech, Mountain View, CA, USA), 1% penicillin and streptomycin and 0.5-1 µg/ml puromycin (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA).

The 21 ALK+ALCL primary tumors used in this study for immunohistochemistry were diagnosed at the Cross-Cancer Institute as per the World Health Organization Classification Scheme. The four mouse ALK+ALCL tumors were a gift of Dr. Suzanne D. Turner from the University of Cambridge and has been previously characterized (253).

The use of these tissues was approved by Dr Raymond Lai laboratory Institutional Ethics Committee.

#### 2.2 Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells Isolation

Human blood was obtained from a healthy individual and stored in EDTA treated tubes. Blood sample with diluted to 1 in 2 with PBS. Ficoll-Paque (GE Healthcare) was then carefully applied on top of blood. Centrifugation was then performed 400xg for 40 minutes at room temperature. The uppermost layer containing blood plasma was removed. The second layer containing PBMCs (lymphocytes, monocytes and thrombocytes) was then transferred into a new tube and mixed with PBS containing 0.2% FBS. The cell pellet was then removed. To remove platelets, the cell suspension was resuspended in additional buffer, followed by two consecutive low speed centrifugations at 200xg for 15 minutes. The final pellet contained PBMCs with lymphocytes and monocytes.

#### 2.3 Pharmacological Inhibitors and Treatment Conditions

Crizotinib and doxycycline were all purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. Thiostrepton and doxorubicin were a gift of from the Velazquez and Lavasanifer laboratories, respectively. All drugs were sterilized using a 0.22 µm filter (EndMillipore, Cork, Ireland) before use in tissue culture. Crizotinib and thiostrepton were dissolved in DMSO at a working concentration of 1 mM and stored -20 C after being aliquoted in microcentrifuge tubes. Doxorubicin was dissolved in ultrapure water at a working concentration of 1 mg/ml and

stored in the dark at -20 C. Doxycycline was dissolved in DMSO and used at a working concentration of 1 µg/ml and stored in the dark at -20 C.

#### 2.4 Immunohistochemistry

For immunohistochemistry, formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue sections were first cut at 4-µM thickness on Apex<sup>™</sup> Superior Adhesive Slides (Leica, Mount Waverly, Germany). Slides were baked at 60 degrees for 1 hours followed by deparaffinization with xylene and gradual re-hydration with decreasing concentrations of ethanol. Slides were then rinsed with water. Heat induced epitope retrieval was performed using a microwave with Tris EDTA pH 9 buffer for 20 minutes. Following epitope retrieval, slides were again washed with water and then blocked for endogenous peroxidase using hydrogen peroxide (Fischer Scientific, Geel, Belgium). After a rinse with water, slides were blocked with antibody dilution buffer (EnVision; Dako) with incubated with primary antibody overnight at 4 C. For the 21 NPM-ALK+ ALCL patient tumor sections, an anti-FOXM1 rabbit antibody (1:500, Abcam, #207298) was used. For NPM-ALK+ ALCL transgenic mouse sections, an anti-FOXM1 mouse antibody (1:500, SC, #376471) was used. Reactive human tonsils sections were used as a negative control. On the second day, the primary antibody was carefully removed, and slides were incubated with Dako Envision+ Dual Link System-HRP (Dako, Caprinteria, CA) for 1 hour. Following washes with TBST and TBS, slides were stained with Dako Liquid DAB+ Substrate Chromagen System (Dako, Caprinteria, CA) for up to 3 minutes. Slides were washed with water, followed by sequential dipping in copper sulfate, water and lithium carbonate. Finally, slides were

dehydrated with increasing concentrations in ethanol and an incubation in xylene. Slides were mounted with coverslips followed by imaging with a Zeiss Axioscope 2 microscope (Carl Zeiss).

#### 2.5 Cell Viability

The CellTiter 96® Aqueous One Solution Cell Proliferation Assay (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) was used to measure cell viability. Drug treatments were administrated in 48well plates at a cell density of 100,000 cells/ml in 1 ml of fully supplemented medium. Cells were assayed with 3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3-carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-(4sulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium (i.e MTS reagent) 48 hours after drug treatment. Measurements were obtained at a wavelength of 450 nM using a FLUOstar Omega Microplate Reader (BMG Labtech). The trypan blue exclusion assay (Amresco, Solon, OH, USA) was used to measure cell viability for time-dependent experiments.

#### 2.6 RNA Extraction and cDNA Synthesis

To isolate total RNA from cell lines, the RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) was used. On column DNA digestion with DNAse I (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) was performed to remove trace DNA. RNA concentration was measured using a Du 730 UV spectrophotometer (Beckerman Coulter). The High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) was used to prepare of cDNA from 1 µg of total RNA according to manufacturers instructions.

#### 2.7 Reverse Transcriptase Polymerase Chain Reaction

For Reverse Transcriptase Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR), cDNA was mixed with ultra pure water, primers and 2x PCR master mix (Fischer Scientific, Carlsbad, CA). Sequence of primers were:

FOXM1B/C F- 5-CACCCCAGTGCCAACCGCTART-3 and

FOXM1B/C R- 5-AAAGAGGAGCTATCCCCTCCTCAG-3

GAPDH F -5-GGTCTCCTCTGACTTCAACAGCG-3 and

GAPDH R- 5-ACCACCCTGTTGCTGTAGCCAA-3

PCR parameters included an initial denaturing step at 95°C for 10 minutes followed by 30 cycles of 95°C for 45 seconds, annealing at 56°C for 30 seconds and extension at 72°C for 30 seconds, followed by a final extension step at 72°C for 10 minutes. PCR products were then analyzed by 2% agarose gel electrophoresis.

#### 2.8 Quantitative Real Time PCR

Quantitative Real Time PCR (qPCR) reactions were prepared in 96-well plates (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) with the PowerUp<sup>™</sup> SYBR<sup>™</sup> Green Master Mix (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) according to manufacturers protocol. The Mastercycler® ep Realplex system (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany) was used for monitoring of the qPCR. The following primers, FOXM1: F- 5-CGTCGGCCACTGATTCTCAAA-3 & R- 5-GGCAGGGGATCTCTTAGGTTC-3, GAPDH: F- 5-GGTCTCCTCTGACTTCAACAGCG-

3 & R- 5-ACCACCCTGTTGCTGTAGCCAA-3 were used. qPCR cycling was setup as denaturation at 95°C for 10 minutes, followed by 40 cycles at 95°C for 15 seconds, annealing & extension at 60°C for 1 minute. The relative gene expression was determined using the  $\Delta\Delta$ -CT method. Normalization of target gene expression was made to GAPDH and then to the experimental control group.

#### 2.9 Plasmids and siRNA

Short hairpin RNA (shRNA) plasmids for FOXM1 (pLKO.1) purchased from Dharmacon. The NPM1 shRNA (pLKO.1) was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. The GFP shRNA plasmid was purchased from Addgene (#30323). Vectors for doxycycline inducible overexpression of FOXM1B/C vectors were from made with the pCW57.1 vector and purchased from Addgene (#68811 and 68810) (254). The empty vector luciferase reporter and FOXM1 luciferase reporter containing FOXM1 consensus sequences were based on the pGL4.10 backbone, provided by Dr. Cater J Barger and Dr. Adam Karpf from the University of Nebraska Medical Center (148). The NPM-ALK (pcDNA3.1) plasmid was a gift from Dr. Stephan Morris. NPM-ALK<sup>WT</sup> and NPM-ALK<sup>FFF</sup> (HB tagged) expression vectors were previously created by members of the Lai laboratory and has been described in (219). Short interfering RNA (siRNA) for scrambled siRNA and ALK smartpool siRNA were purchased from Dharmacon.

37

#### 2.10 General Transfections

The electro square electroporator BTX ECM 800 (225 V, 8.5 ms, 6 pulses) was used for transient transfections of ALK+ ALCL cell lines with siRNA and plasmid vectors. Per 10 million ALK+ ALCL cells, 1 nanomole of siRNAs were used. Western blots were used to determine the efficiency of the knockdown.

Transient transfections of 293T cells were performed in 6-well plates. 1.5 µg of plasmid or 200 picomole of siRNA were combined with 5 µl Lipofectamine and added to each well. Cells were harvested 24 hours following transfection.

#### 2.11 Lentivirus Preparation and Transduction of Lymphomas

A lentivirus-based transduction strategy optimized for T-lymphocytes was used to stably transfect ALK+ ALCL cell lines (255). Lentivirus production was achieved in 100 mm dishes by transfecting 293T cells with 9  $\mu$ g transfer vector, 9  $\mu$ g psPax2 and 3  $\mu$ g pMD2.G plasmids (Addgene) using 30  $\mu$ l Lipofectamine (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA). After 48 hours, viral supernatant was collected and filtered. 2 million ALK+ ALCL cells were then mixed with 1 ml of viral supernatant containing 0.8  $\mu$ g/ml polybrene (Sigma-Aldrich) in a 6-well plate. The plate was then spun at 1000g and 32°C at 2 hours to facilitate viral infection. Following the spin infection, 1 ml of fresh medium was added to each well. To increase the transduction efficiency, the spin infection step was repeated

the next day with fresh virus supernatant. 24 hours after the final infection, cells were washed twice with cold PBS and resuspended in fresh medium. Cells were then collected for subsequent assays and western blot analysis. For the development of monoclonal stable cell lines, cells were expand followed by selection with increasing concentrations of puromycin, increasing from 0.5  $\mu$ g/ml to 3  $\mu$ g/ml. To isolate monoclonal populations of lymphoma stably expressing, single cell selection was performed with serial dilution in 96-well plates. The clones were expanded, and responsiveness to doxycycline was validated using western blotting.

#### 2.12 Flow Cytometric Analyses

The CellTrace<sup>™</sup> CFSE Cell Proliferation Kit was purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Carlsbad, CA, USA). Briefly, 5 nmol of CFSE (carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester) dye (in DMSO) was incubated with 1 million cells for 30 minutes. Flow cytometry was conducted, and viable cells were gated using forward and side scatter parameters. Over the next three days, 200,000 cells were analyzed each day for loss of CFSE staining.

To determine apoptosis and conduct cell cycle analysis of NPM-ALK+ALCL cell lines, cells were stained with the FITC Annexin V Apoptosis Detection Kit I (BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA) according to manufacturer's recommendations.

For all flow cytometry experimentations, the BD LSR FORTESSA X-20 instrument at the Flow Cytometry core, University of Alberta was used. The BD FACSDiva software was used to record and analyze flow cytometry data. Flow cytometry experimentation results are representative of at least two or more biological replicates.

#### 2.13 Soft Agar Colony Formation Assay

For soft agar colony formation assays, 6-well plates were first layered with the bottom 0.7% low melting point (LMP) agar in complete RPMI 40 medium. Following experimental treatments, 10,000 cells were seeded into each well of a 6-well in the upper layer, at a concentration of 0.3% LMP agar in complete RPMI 40 medium. Soft agar experiments were performed in triplicates. Colonies were grown for about two weeks followed by staining of the plates with 0.05% crystal violet (Sigma-Aldrich). Images of colonies were taken using a fluorescent microscope (Leica Biosystems).

#### 2.14 Western Blotting

Cell lysates were prepared by first pelleting cells at 300xg for 5 minutes and then washing cells with PBS. An appropriate volume of 1x RIPA buffer supplemented with protease inhibitor, phosphatase inhibitor and PMSF was added to the cell pellet. Cells were then ruptured by rigorous pipetting on ice. Following a 30-minute incubation period on ice, cells were centrifuged on maximum speed at 4 C for 10 minutes on a table-top centrifuge. The supernatant was collected and transferred to a freshly chilled tube. Protein concentration of lysates were assessed using the BCA assay according to manufacturers recommendations. The assay plate was read on FluoStar machine. Cell lysates were then

combined with 4x loading dye (90 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.9), 2% SDS, 10% glycerol, 5 mM EDTA, 125 mg/mL urea, 0.1 M dithiothreitol, 0.02% bromophenol blue) and boiled at 100 C for 10 minutes. Cell lysates were then electrophoresed on 8% or gradient SDS-polyacrylamide gels and transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes (GE Healthcare) Following transfer the membranes were blocked with 5% milk in TBST buffer (20 mM Tris-HCL, pH 7.6, 150 mM NaCl, 0.02% Tween 20) for 30 minutes. Primary antibodies were then added to the membranes and incubated overnight at 4 C. The next day, membranes were washed with TBST, following by addition of secondary antibody conjugated with the horseradish peroxidase (Cell Signalling Technologies). Further TBST washes were performed. Proteins were detected using the enhanced chemiluminescence detection kit (Thermo Scientific) with the use of x-ray films (Diamed) for band development.

#### 2.15 Antibodies

The primary antibodies used for western blot in this study included: anti-FOXM1 (1:500, Santa Cruz (SC), #271746; 1:500, Abcam, #207298), anti-pALK Y1604 (1:500, Cell Signalling technologies (CST), #3341S), anti-ALK (1:1000, CST, #3633), anti-pSTAT3 (Y705) (1:2000, CST, #9145), anti-STAT3 (1:1000, CST, #124H6), anti-Cyclin B1 (1:1000, SC, #752), anti-Actin (1:8000, SC, #47778), anti-PARP (1:1000, CST, #9542), anti-Caspase 3(1:1000, CST, #9662) anti-Survivin (1:1000, CST, #), anti-NPM1 (1:2000, Milipore Sigma, clone 3C9) anti-Vinculin (1:500, SC, #25336), anti HDAC-1 (1:500, SC, #81598), and anti- $\alpha$ -actinin (1:500, SC, 17829). Secondary antibodies used were HRP-conjugated anti-mouse (1:2000, CST, #7076) and anti-rabbit (1:2000, CST, #7074).

#### 2.16 Co-Immunoprecipitation

For co-immunoprecipitation assays, at least 5-10 adherent or 20-40 million lymphoma cells were lysed with 1ml of Cell-Lytic M buffer supplemented with protease and phosphatase inhibitors. Cells were thoroughly lysed via vigorous pipetting. The cells were then pelleted, and cell supernatant was collected, followed by BCA protein estimation. Next, 1 mg of protein lysate was diluted with Cell-Lytic M and 2-4 µg of an immunoprecipitation grade antibody was added. For ALK, SC-6344 and for FOXM1 SC-271746 was used. The mixture was then rotated overnight at 4 C. The next day, 50 ul of protein G plus protein A slurry was added, and the mixture was rotated at 4 C for further 6 hours. Next, the beads were washed by first pelleting at 0.2xg for 1 minute, removal of the supernatant, and rotation with cold PBS for 10 minutes. This step was repeated for a total of 4 times for of 40 minutes washing. In the final wash step, Cell-Lytic M was used for additional stringency. Following removal of Cell-Lytic buffer, 20 µl of 4x loading dye was added and the samples were boiled at 100 C for 10 minutes. Precipitated lysates were then centrifuged at maximum speed (14000xg) and the supernatant was subjected to western blotting.

#### 2.17 Luciferase Assay

Luciferase reporter assay was performed using Luciferase Assay System kit (Promega, Corporation, Madison, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. In brief, cells were transiently transfected with either the empty or FOXM1 luciferase reporter, as mentioned above. Cells were lysed with Passive Lysis Buffer followed by estimation of protein concentration. Equal amounts of protein for each sample were then assessed for luciferase activity using the FLUOstar Omega multi-mode microplate reader (BMG Labtech, Ortenburg, Germany) to read and analyze data.

#### 2.18 Subcellular Fractionation and DNA Pulldown Assay

Cells were washed with cold PBS and then separated into cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions using the Pierce NE-PER kit (Fisher Scientific Canada, Ottawa, ON, Canada) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

times with ice cold PBS. Protein elution was achieved by boiling the beads at 100°C in 4x sample loading buffer, before then assessing for protein binding using western blots.

#### 2.19 Chromatin Immunoprecipitation

ChIP was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions (Upstate-Millipore Chromatin Immunoprecipitation Assay Kit (Temecula, CA, USA)). Briefly, HEK 293 cells were plated in 15 cm plates. Transient transfections in HEK 293, as mentioned above, were performed with GFP, FOXM1, NPM-ALK<sup>WT</sup> and NPM-ALK<sup>FFF</sup> cDNA-containing expression vectors for 48 hours. At approximately 90% confluency, cells were fixed for with 1% formaldehyde (in culture media) for 20 minutes at room temperature with rocking. Formaldehyde was then quenched by the addition of glycine and incubated for an additional 10 minutes. Cells were collected by centrifugation, washed and lysed with SDS lysis buffer (1% SDS, 10 mM EDTA). Chromatin was sheared by sonication on ice using a Fisher Scientific Sonic Dismembrator Ultrasonic Processor Model 705 (Fisher Scientific) at 25% power with 10 pulses of 20 s sonication and 30 s rest to give optimized DNA fragments of between 200 bp and 1 kb. Chromatin was subsequently suspended in ChIP Dilution Buffer and incubated with 5 µg of either normal rabbit IgG (Cell Signaling) or anti-FOXM1 antibody (Santa Cruz) overnight at 4 °C. Next, Protein A agarose beads were added to the chromatin/FOXM1 or rabbit IgG antibody for an additional 6 hours at 4 °C. The immunoprecipitated material bound to agarose beads was then washed once with a low salt wash buffer, a high salt wash buffer, LiCl wash buffer, and then twice in TE buffer. To elute the immunoprecipitated material from the beads, the bead-bound chromatin was

incubated with ChIP Elution Buffer. Input chromatin and DNA/protein formaldehyde crosslinks were then reversed with 5 M NaCl at 65 °C overnight. Proteins were digested with Proteinase K (Ambion, Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, Canada) at 55 °C for 2 hours and DNA was purified using a PCR Purification kit (Qiagen). The resulting ChIP DNA and input DNA were then amplified by PCR with previously validated Cyclin B1 (*CCNB1*) ChIP primers:

Cyclin B1 Prom 1 F 5-CGCGATCGCCCTGGAAACGCA-3 Cyclin B1 Prom 1 R 5-CCCAGCAGAAACCAACAGCCGT-3 Cyclin B1 Prom 2 F 5-CCTCCAACCCAGAGAGTTGTTGC-3 Cyclin B1 Prom 2 R 5-AGCCAAGGACCTACACCCAGCA-3

#### 2.20 Statistical Analyses

Numerical data have been expressed as the mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean obtained from the number of replicates mentioned in the figure legends. The two-tailed Student's t test and ANOVA was used to determine the significance of samples with  $\alpha$ =0.05. Statistical analysis was performed with GraphPad software (La Jolla, CA, USA).

### **Chapter 3: Results**

#### 3.1 Assessment of FOXM1 Protein Levels in NPM-ALK+ ALCL Cells

NPM-ALK+ ALCL cell lines were assessed for expression of FOXM1 by western blot. As shown in Figure 3.1, FOXM1, detected at approximately 110 kd, which is concordant with its previously reported molecular weight (3), was highly expressed in all 5 cell lines examined. In contrast, cell lysates harvested from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) from a healthy individual showed no detectable FOXM1. Jurkat (a T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia cell line), which has previously been reported to express a high level of FOXM1 (257), was found to express FOXM1 at a level comparable to that of NPM-ALK+ ALCL cell lines. Vinculin, which shares a similar molecular weight as FOXM1, was used as a loading control.





#### 3.2 Expression of FOXM1B and FOXM1C Isoforms in NPM-ALK+ ALCL Cells

In order to determine whether both oncogenic FOXM1 isoforms (i.e. FOXM1B and FOXM1C) are expressed in NPM-NPM-ALK+ ALCL, RT-PCR was performed using a specific primer set that is designed to detect both FOXM1B and FOXM1C (14) (since these isoforms are known to share a similar molecular weight and cannot be readily distinguished from each other by western blot). Expression of both isoforms was detectable in all 4 NPM-ALK+ ALCL cell lines tested but not PBMC (Figure 3.2). Jurkat cells and the PCR products from commercially available FOXM1B and FOXM1C expression vectors served as positive controls.





PBMC was used as a negative control for *FOXM1* gene expression. Commercial FOXM1 expression vectors for FOXM1B and FOXM1C were used as controls for this experiment. GAPDH was used as a loading control. The final lane included was a reaction with H<sub>2</sub>O instead of cDNA for a PCR reaction negative control.

#### 3.3 Transcriptional Activity of FOXM1 in NPM-ALK+ ALCL

Since FOXM1 is a transcription factor, the transcriptionally activity of this protein in NPM-ALK+ ALCL was evaluated. In support of the concept that FOXM1 is transcriptionally active, FOXM1 was found to be localized to the nuclei of NPM-ALK+ ALCL cells, as shown in by nuclear/cytoplasmic fractionation experiments (Figure 3.3A). Histone deacetylase (HDAC1) and  $\alpha$ -actinin served as the controls for the efficiency of the nuclear/cytoplasmic fractionation protocol.

Furthermore, following transfection of a FOXM1 luciferase reporter, containing FOXM1 consensus sequences, into NPM-ALK+ ALCL cells, a significantly higher level (p<0.005) of luciferase activity was observed compared to the negative control (Figure 3.3B).



#### Figure 3.3. FOXM1 subcellular fractionation and protein activity. A)

Subcellular fractionation of FOXM1 was performed in the two NPM-ALK+ cell lines, SupM2 and Karpas 299. (C) = cytoplasmic, (N) = nuclear protein.  $\alpha$ -Actinin was used as a control for cytoplasmic protein while HDAC1 was used a control for nuclear proteins. B) SupM2 and UCONN-L2 cell lines were either transfected with an empty luciferase reporter (Empty Vector) or 6x FOXM1 luciferase reporter (FOXM1 reporter). Experiments were performed independently in triplicates. Bars indicate mean±SEM.

# 3.4 FOXM1 Immunocytochemistry and Immunohistochemistry in NPM-ALK+ ALCL Cases

FOXM1 immunocytochemistry in cell line blocks from 3 NPM+ALK ALCL cell lines (SupM2, Karpas 299 and SUDHL-1) showed further illustrated the expression of FOXM1 (Figure 3.4). The intensity of FOXM1 expression varied among individual cells, suggesting not all NPM-ALK+ cells express an equal level of FOXM1. Moreover, FOXM1 expression was restricted largely to the nucleus, although some cytoplasmic expression of FOXM1 could be also identified.



**Figure 3.4. Immunocytochemistry of FOXM1 protein in NPM-ALK+ ALCL cell lines.** Positive staining is denoted by brown colour development. Blue areas indicate weak to no staining. A) SupM2 B) SUDHL-1 C) Karpas 299

To evaluate FOXM1 expression in primary NPM-ALK+ ALCL tumors, immunohistochemistry (IHC) was conducted of 21 cases of formalin-fixed, paraffinembedded tissue. FOXM1 expression was identified all case 21 cases. In all cases, high expression of nuclear FOXM1 staining was identified in virtually all neoplastic lymphoid cells whereas the surrounding non-malignant small lymphocytes showed no definitive staining (Figures 3.5A and 3.5B).



**Figure 3.5. Immunohistochemistry of FOXM1 expression in a case of NPM-ALK+ ALCL tumor.** Note that the expression of FOXM1 was localized in the nucleus of the infiltrating lymphoma cells (purple stain) whereas surrounding small lymphocytes were negative for FOXM1 (blue stain) A) (immunoperoxidase, 100x) B) (immunoperoxidase, 400x) In a reactive tonsil, FOXM1 immunostaining was located mostly in centroblasts in the germinal centers and small lymphocytes in the mantle zones, but the inter-follicular spaces were largely negative (Figure 3.6A and 3.6B).



**Figure 3.6. Immunohistochemistry of FOXM1 expression in a case of tonsil.** Weak FOXM1 staining was found scattered across the tissue in mantle zones. However, intense FOXM1 staining could be identified in centroblasts of the germinal centers A) (immunoperoxidase, 100x) B) (immunoperoxidase, 400x)

Similar results were obtained on IHC of four tumors arising in NPM-ALK+ transgenic mice, a study model previously published (253); FOXM1 was found to be highly expressed in the nuclei of these ALK-expressing tumor cells with the surrounding benign cells being negative (Figures 3.7A and 3.7B). Note that the morphology of the infiltrating lymphocytes appears distinct, that is spindle shaped, compared to the lymphocyte morphology found in human ALK+ ALCL.



**Figure 3.7. Immunohistochemistry of FOXM1 expression in NPM-ALK+ mouse tumors**. Two cases of transgenic mouse expressing NPM-ALK+ tumors are shown. Weak cytoplasmic and strong nuclear staining of FOXM1 was found in both cases. A) (immunoperoxidase, 100x) B) (immunoperoxidase, 100x)

# 3.5 Inhibition of Expression of FOXM1 on Cell growth and the Clonogenicity of NPM-ALK+ ALCL Cell Lines

To understand the biological significance of FOXM1 in NPM-ALK+ ALCL, FOXM1 expression was suppressed in SupM2 and UCONN-L2 cells using two different short hairpin RNAs (shRNA). As shown in Figures 3.8A and 3.8B, efficient FOXM1 knockdown was achieved by using both shRNA species, although the efficiency of knockdown was higher in SupM2 cells as compared to UCONN-L2 cells.



**Figure 3.8 FOXM1 mRNA and protein levels following shRNA mediated knockdown**. A) *FOXM1* mRNA levels were assessed by qPCR following knockdown of FOXM1 with two different FOXM1 shRNA species in SupM2 and UCONN-L2 cells. Expression was normalized to GAPDH. B) FOXM1 protein expression in SupM2 and UCONN-L2 cell lines following knockdown of FOXM1 using the same two FOXM1 shRNA.

shRNA-induced downregulation of FOXM1 resulted in inhibition of the growth of SupM2 and UCONN-L2 cells on days 4 and 6, as determined following trypan blue exclusion (Figure 3.9A and 3.9B). Cells infected with shRNA against the green fluorescence protein (GFP) served as the negative control. On day 6, the decrease in the number of viable SupM2 cells was in the range of 80-90%. shRNA mediated knockdown of FOXM1 in UCONN-L2 cells also resulted in a significant decrease in cell growth (~50% on day 6), although the extent was not as profound as that seen in SupM2 cells, probably since inhibition of FOXM1 in this cell line was not as efficient.



Figure 3.9 Cell viability of SupM2 and UCONN-L2 following knockdown of FOXM1. Trypan blue exclusion assay was used to determine the viability of SupM2 (A) and UCONNL-2 (B) cells at 2, 4 and 6 days following transduction to force expression of either GFP or two FOXM1 shRNAs. Results are normalized to the values of the GFP shRNA for each day.

В

In addition to inducing a reduction in cell viability, inhibition of FOXM1 expression resulted in a significant increase in apoptosis of both SupM2 and UCONN-L2 cells, as defined by positive staining for both Annexin V and propidium iodide (PI) (p<0.05, Figure 3.10A). These functional effects correlate with downregulation of expression of Survivin, as well as increased cleavage of caspase 3 and PARP, consistent with apoptosis (Figure 3.10B)


#### Figure 3.10 Assessment of apoptosis in NPM-ALK+ cells following FOXM1

**knockdown.** A) Annexin V/PI staining of FOXM1 following lentiviral mediated knockdown of FOXM1 in SupM2 and UCONN-L2 cells. The percentage of cells positive for Annexin V+ and PI+ was gated from 3 independent experiments. Results are presented as mean±SEM. B) Western blot analysis of SupM2 cells infected with FOXM1 shRNA for 48 hours showed cleavage of PARP and caspase 3, markers of apoptosis. Moreover, the expression of an anti-apoptotic protein, Survivin, was dramatically reduced.  $\beta$ -actin served as the loading control. Data are representative of two biological replicates.

Since FOXM1 is known to be a facilitator of cell cycle progression, the impact of FOXM1 knockdown on cell proliferation was assessed using the CFSE assay. As shown in Figure 3.11A and 3.11B, the frequency of cell division, which is inversely proportional to the CFSE content, was decreased following suppression of FOXM1 expression in both cell lines.





Furthermore, expression of the FOXM1 shRNA in either cell line resulted in a significant reduction in col ony formation compared to cells expressing GFP shRNA (Figure 3.12).



**Figure 3.12. Soft agar colony formation assay following knockdown of FOXM1**. SupM2 (A) and UCONN-L2 cells (B) were first transduced with FOXM1 shRNA and then grown in soft agar plates for about 2 weeks. The upper panel shows an image of a representative well of the soft agar. The middle panel shows a zoomed 100x image of the colonies. The bottom panel shows quantification of the colonies by counting. Results are presented as mean±SEM. Moreover, FOXM1 knockdown sensitized cells to doxorubicin-induced cell growth inhibition on exposure to either 50 ng/mL or 100 ng/mL of doxorubicin for SupM2 cells, and 100ng/ml for UCONN-L2 cells (Figure 3.13A and 3.13B). For SupM2 cells the, IC<sub>50</sub> of doxorubicin was 87 ng/ml with GFP whereas compared to 51 ng/ml with FOXM1 shRNA #4. For UCONN-L2 cells, it was 64 ng/ml (GFP shRNA) compared to 55 ng/ml (FOXM1 shRNA #4).





# 3.6 Pharmacological Inhibition of FOXM1 on Cell Growth and Clonogenicity of NPM-ALK+ ALCL Cell Lines

Thiostrepton, a commonly used pharmacological inhibitor of FOXM1, potently inhibited the growth of SupM2 and UCONN-L2 cells with IC<sub>50</sub> of 0.89  $\mu$ M and 1.22  $\mu$ M respectively, following 48 hours of exposure to the compound (Figure 3.14A). Thiostrepton led to a potent and dose-dependent reduction in expression of the FOXM1 protein in SupM2 and UCONN-L2 cell lines (Figure 3.14B) with complete inhibition of FOXM1 expression seen by 48 hours (Figure 3.14C).



**Figure 3.14 Thiostrepton reduces cell viability and FOXM1 levels in NPM-ALK+ ALCL.** A) Dose response curve of SupM2 and UCONN-L2 to increasing amounts of thiostrepton. Cell viability was measured using MTS assay at 48 hours. Results are presented as mean±SEM from at least three biological replicates. B) Western blot analysis of FOXM1 protein levels in SupM2 and UCONN-L2 cells following reduction of FOXM1 with increasing doses of thiostrepton. C) Western blot analysis of FOXM1 protein levels in SupM2 and UCONN-L2 cells following thiostrepton treatment over time.s Moreover, on transfection of a luciferase reporter construct containing FOXM1 consensus sequences, a significant and dose-dependent reduction in luciferase activity was observed upon treatment with thiostrepton (Figure 3.15).



Figure 3.15 Luciferase reporter activity of FOXM1 following its inhibition by thiostrepton. SupM2 cells were first electroporated with either empty vector or FOXM1 reporters. The next day, cells were treated with thiostrepton. Luciferase reporter activity was measured after 48 hours. Results are presented as mean±SEM.

Concomitantly, thiostrepton induced apoptosis (Figure 3.16) as well as inhibition of cell division (i.e. CSFE staining) and soft agar colony formation of NPM-ALK+ ALCL cell line (Figures 3.17A-D).









#### 3.7 FOXM1 on the Phosphorylation of NPM-ALK and STAT3 Pathway

In order to investigate the mechanisms by which FOXM1 mediates its oncogenic effects in NPM-ALK+ ALCL, the status of the NPM-ALK/STAT3 signaling axis, a key oncogenic driving force in NPM-ALK+ ALCL was investigated (220). As shown in Figure 5A, lentiviral-transduced shRNA-mediated suppression of FOXM1 expression in SupM2 and UCONN-L2 cells resulted in down-regulation of Cyclin B1, a known downstream target of FOXM1 (21). At the same time, phosphorylation of NPM-ALK at Y664 was inhibited as was phosphorylation of STAT3 at Y705 in both cell lines. Interestingly, expression of STAT3 was not substantially affected in SupM2 whereas both pSTAT3 and total STAT3 levels decreased concurrently in UCONN-L2 cells expressing FOXM1 shRNA #4, suggesting that FOXM1 might regulate expression of STAT3 as well as its phosphorylation. Indeed, both pSTAT3 and total STAT3 expression was elevated in cells over-expressing FOXM1C as was expression of Cyclin B1 and phosphorylated NPM-ALK confirming the ability of FOXM1 to regulate the expression and/or phosphorylation of these proteins in NPM-ALK+ ALCL (Figure 3.18).



Figure 3.18 Effect of FOXM1 knockdown on signalling pathways in NPM-ALK+ ALCL. SupM2 and UCONN-L2 cells were transduced with 2 different species of FOXM1 shRNA. FOXM1 knockdown was assessed with anti-FOXM1 antibody and by probing the FOXM1-mediated target gene product Cyclin B1. pNPM-ALK detected the Y664 residue of NPM-ALK and pSTAT3 detected Y705 residue.  $\beta$ -actin was used as a loading control.

To determine whether this FOXM1-mediated activity is specific to ALCL, 293T cells were stably transfected with a FOXM1C doxycycline-inducible vector in the presence or absence of NPM-ALK (Figure 3.19). With increasing doses of doxycycline, a dose-dependent increase of FOXM1 expression was observed, in both the absence or presence of NPM-ALK in the latter case correlating with a dose-dependent increase in phosphorylation of NPM-ALK. Consistent with previous observations, STAT3 was phosphorylated in the presence of NPM-ALK although the presence of FOXM1 did not increase this further, yet an appreciable elevation in the expression of total STAT3 was detected. Interestingly, in the absence of NPM-ALK (lanes a-c), upregulation of FOXM1 also resulted in appreciable increases in both pSTAT3 and STAT3. The results indicate FOXM1 can activate the STAT3 signaling pathway in an NPM-ALK—independent manner in 293T cells.



В

Α

Figure 3.19. FOXM1 overexpression alters the signalling of NPM-ALK. A) SupM2-FOXM1C Tet-ON were induced to overexpress FOXM1 followed by downstream assessment of signalling molecules. B) 293T-FOXM1C Tet-ON cells were transfected with either empty vector or NPM-ALK overexpression constructs. Western blotting of downstream signalling proteins was then performed.  $\beta$ -actin was used as a loading control. Results are representative of at least two biological replicates

75

#### 3.8 Influence of NPM-ALK on Transcriptional Activity of FOXM1

To determine whether NPM-ALK plays a role in regulating the transcriptional activity of FOXM1, a FOXM1 consensus sequence-luciferase reporter construct was transiently transfected into SupM2 cells. Following siRNA-mediated downregulation of NPM-ALK luciferase activity was abrogated, suggesting that NPM-ALK is required for FOXM1 to function as a transcription factor (Figure 3.20A). In keeping with this concept, siRNA-induced downregulation of NPM-ALK expression in SupM2 cells resulted in a dramatic decrease in FOXM1 protein bound to a biotinylated DNA probe containing FOXM1 consensus sequences, while the total FOXM1 protein level in the cell lysate (i.e. the input) was largely unaltered (Figure 3.20B). In the same experiment, western blot studies showed that siRNA -mediated inhibition of NPM-ALK expression led to a substantial decrease in Cyclin B1, a well-known target of FOXM1 transcriptional activity (258).



Figure 3.20. Impact of FOXM1 activity upon downregulation of NPM-ALK.

A) SupM2 cells were electroporated with either the Empty Vector or FOXM1 reporter, in conjunction with either scrambled siRNA or ALK siRNA. Luciferase reporter activity was then measured in triplicates. B) SupM2 cells were electroporated with either scrambled siRNA or ALK siRNA followed by cytoplasmic/nuclear fraction (lower panel). DNA pulldown of FOXM1 following ALK knockdown is shown on the upper panel

In order to determine whether the effect of NPM-ALK on the transcriptional activity of FOXM1 is dependent on the kinase activity of NPM-ALK, HEK 293 cells were transfected with a FOXM1 reporter luciferase construct together with either wild-type NPM-ALK or a kinase-dead mutant form of NPM-ALK. As shown in Figures 3.21A and 3.21B, transfection of wild-type NPM-ALK (NPM-ALK<sup>WT</sup>), but not the kinase-dead form (NPM-ALK<sup>FFF</sup>), led to a significant increase in luciferase activity in the presence of exogenous FOXM1 (p=0.02).



**Figure 3.21. Effect of NPM-ALK activation on the transcriptional activity of FOXM1** A) HEK 293 cells were transfected with either Empty Vector or FOXM1 Reporter in conjunction with either FOXM1 or NPM-ALK<sup>WT</sup> vectors. B) HEK 293 cells were transfected with either Empty Vector or FOXM1 Reporter in conjunction with either FOXM1 or NPM-ALK<sup>FFF</sup> vector. In addition, FOXM1 Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) in the presence of NPM-ALK<sup>WT</sup> but not the kinase-dead variant, NPM-ALK<sup>FFF</sup>, showed binding of exogenous FOXM1 to Cyclin B1 (*CCNB1*) promoter regions (Figure 3.22).



**Figure 3.22 Influence of NPM-ALK on FOXM1 transactivation as assessed by chromatin immunoprecipitation**. PCR amplification of two promoter sites of *CCNB1* (Cyclin B1 promoter) was performed following ChIP with a control IgG or FOXM1 antibody in HEK 293 cells. Cells were co-transfected with FOXM1 and either wild-type NPM-ALK (*NPM-ALK<sup>WT</sup>*) or kinase-dead NPM-ALK (*NPM-ALK<sup>FFF</sup>*). Data are representative of two replicates.

#### 3.9 Role of NPM1 in Mediating NPM-ALK—FOXM1 binding

In order to delineate the mechanism by which NPM-ALK facilitates the transcriptional activity of FOXM1, co-immunoprecipitation was conducted revealing that FOXM1 complexes with NPM-ALK in SupM2 and Karpas 299 cells (Figure 3.23A). Furthermore, NPM-ALK was detected bound to a biotinylated DNA probe containing FOXM1 consensus sequences when expressed in ALCL cell lines, as was FOXM1 (Figure 3.23B). Taken together, these results are consistent with the hypothesis that formation of a complex involving NPM-ALK and FOXM1 is critical for FOXM1 to carry-out its transcriptional regulatory function.



**Figure 3.23 Evaluation of FOXM1 and NPM-ALK as evaluated by reciprocal co-immunoprecipitation**. In the top panel, an ALK antibody was used to pulldown ALK in SupM2 and Karpas 299. In the middle panel, a FOXM1 antibody was used to pulldown FOXM1 (B) A biotinylated DNA probe consisting of FOXM1 consensus sequences was immunoprecipitated from nuclear cell lysates of SupM2 and Karpas-299 cell lines, followed by western blotting to asses the indicated proteins.

In the nuclei of NPM-ALK+ ALCL cells, it has been previously published that NPM-ALK is present predominantly as NPM-ALK—NPM1 heterodimers (218). Given that in acute myeloid leukemia, NPM1 physically binds to FOXM1 (259) via the portion of NPM1 that is not retained in the NPM-ALK fusion (218), shRNA was employed to inhibit expression of wild-type NPM1. A decrease in co-immunoprecipitation of NPM-ALK and FOXM1 was observed (Figure 3.24).

Since it is known that shNPM1 could readily decrease the protein expression of FOXM1 in several cell types as well as FOXM1 as illustrated (lane 2 of Figure 3.24), the SupM2 Tet ON FOXM1 model was employed for this experiment. Doxycycline was used to induce the expression of FOXM1 in the SupM2 Tet ON model which dramatically increased the protein level of FOXM1. Therefore, a fairer comparison of ALK immunoprecipitated with FOXM1 could be evaluated using this system.



## Figure 3.24 Influence of NPM1 on the interaction between FOXM1

**and NPM-ALK.** Immunoprecipitation of NPM-ALK was performed in SupM2 FOXM1 Tet-ON cells after treatment with doxycycline following shRNA mediated knockdown of NPM1 for 72 hours.

In order to confirm that binding is mediated via wild type NPM1 and the NPM portion of NPM-ALK, HEK 293 cells were transfected to express variant ALK fusion proteins including NPM-ALK, EML4-ALK and full length wild-type ALK. Compared to all three ALK forms tested, only NPM-ALK efficiently co-immunoprecipitated with FOXM1 (Figure 3.25).



**Figure 3.25. Evaluation of FOXM1 binding to known ALK forms in various human cancers.** Co-immunoprecipitation was performed with FOXM1 antibody in HEK 293 cells following transfection of cells with FOXM1 and with either *NPM-ALK*, *EML4-ALK* or *ALK* (full length) expression vectors.

As shown in Figure 3.22, phosphorylation and hence activation of NPM-ALK is required to facilitate the DNA binding and transcriptional activity of FOXM1. In order to determine whether this activity is also required to enable the formation of a complex involving NPM1, NPM-ALK and FOXM1, HEK293 cells were transfected to express wild-type NPM-ALK (NPM-ALK<sup>WT</sup>) or kinase-dead NPM-ALK (NPM-ALK<sup>FFF</sup>). Figure 3.26 shows that NPM-ALK<sup>WT</sup> was found to co-immunoreacted significantly more with FOXM1 in comparison to NPM-ALK<sup>FFF</sup>.



**Figure 3.26. Influence of NPM-ALK activation on the binding with FOXM1**. HEK 293 cells were transfected with FOXM1 and either *GFP*, *NPM-ALK<sup>WT</sup>* or *NPM-ALK<sup>FFF</sup>* expression vectors followed by co-immunoprecipitation with a FOXM1 antibody and western blotting of the indicated proteins. **Chapter 4: Discussion** 

#### 4.1 General Discussion

In solid tumors, FOXM1 has been extensively studied, and it is known to contribute to the initiation, proliferation, tumorigenicity, angiogenesis, chemo-resistance, metastatic capabilities and stemness of malignancies (4). It is believed that FOXM1 mediates its oncogenic effects via a number of molecular mechanisms, including promotion of the nuclear translocation of  $\beta$ -catenin (134), upregulation of a host of cell-cycle facilitators (260), increasing the expression of stem cell-related proteins (e.g. SOX2 and MYC)(28), inhibition of tumor suppressors including p53 (149, 261) and increasing the level of VEGF in promoting angiogenesis (262). In comparison, the biological significance of FOXM1 in hematologic malignancies is less well understood: In an early study, it was found that FOXM1 promotes the growth of thymic lymphoma in a p53-null mouse model (263); In another study, conditional knockdown of FOXM1 in precursor B-cell lymphoblastic leukemia cell lines was found to significantly prolong the survival of mice xenografted with leukemic cells (264); In a study of plasma cell myeloma, overexpression of FOXM1 in cell lines resulted in a significantly higher tumor volume of xenografts formed in mice (179); a high level of FOXM1 expression detectable by immunohistochemistry was found in ~85% cases of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, and pharmacologic inhibition of FOXM1 in lymphoma cell lines substantially decreased invasiveness in vitro, which correlated with a reduction in expression of Ki-67 and two epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition markers (MMP-2 and MMP-9) (184); Lastly, in two studies of acute myeloid leukemia, the silencing and reduction of FOXM1 led to decreased tumorigenic properties in both in vitro and in vivo models (182, 185).

#### 4.2 Expression of FOXM1 in Aberrant and Important for NPM-ALK+ ALCL

The expression of FOXM1 in NPM-ALK+ ALCL was found to be consistent across all human tissues tested in this study. Elevated FOXM1 expression was found in 5/5 NPM-ALK+ ALCL cell lines in comparison to lymphocytes obtained from a healthy adult. Moreover, in 6/6 tumor blocks NPM-ALK+ ALCL blocks, the expression of FOXM1 was found to be localized in neoplastic cells whereas surrounding benign cells displayed no expression or little expression of FOXM1. These findings indicate that the expression of FOXM1 was found in this study to be localized mostly in the nuclei of NPM-ALK+ ALCL cells. Some expression of FOXM1 could be detected in the cytoplasm. This was especially the in the tumor blocks from the *NPM-ALK* transgenic mice.

The expression of FOXM1 in NPM-ALK+ ALCL, whose normal counterpart is believed to be mature T-cells (265), is an aberrant event. In this regard, it has been shown that the expression of FOXM1 mRNA is tightly regulated during T-cell development, with the expression of FOXM1 first detectable in double-negative (i.e. negative for CD4 and CD8) thymocytes, reaching its peak at the stage of immature double positive (i.e. positive for both CD4 and CD8) thymocytes, dramatically decreasing on becoming single-positive (e.g. positive for CD4 or CD8) thymocytes, and becoming undetectable in fully mature lymphocytes in the periphery (2). In keeping with these findings, PBMC cells, which include mature T-cells, had no detectable FOXM1 protein. Based on these observations, it is possible that the normal mechanism that is responsible for 'silencing' FOXM1 protein expression at the mature T-cell stage has become defective during the oncogenesis of NPM-ALK+ ALCL.

The use of the luciferase reporter containing FOXM1 sequences (i.e FOXM1 reporter) helped verify the transcriptional activity of FOXM1 in NPM-ALK+ ALCL. Furthermore, the use of thiostrepton reduced the luciferase activity in cells transfected with the FOXM1 reporter. Additionally, nuclear/cytoplasmic fractionation of the two NPM-ALK+ ALCL cell lines (SupM2 and UCONNL-2) and in the immunocytochemistry of the three NPM-ALK+ ALCL cell lines, the expression of FOXM1 was found to be strictly localized in the nuclei. Indeed, the nuclear localization of FOXM1 is believed to be a strong indicator of positive FOXM1 transcriptional activity in human cancer. Thus, FOXM1 is likely to be highly involved in regulation of gene expression in NPM-ALK+ ALCL.

The downregulation of FOXM1 through both shRNA and a pharmacological agent greatly reduced the tumorigenic potential of NPM-ALK+ ALCL cells. Cells with ablated FOXM1 demonstrated slower cell divisions and an increase of apoptotic cells. Consistent results were obtained with two different species of FOXM1 shRNA and with the FOXM1 inhibitor, thiostrepton. These results suggest that FOXM1 is an important growth and survival factor in NPM-ALK+ ALCL. Furthermore, the finding that FOXM1 knockdown can affect the soft agar colony formation ability of NPM-ALK+ ALCL may suggest that FOXM1 contributes to other tumorigenic properties such as escaping cellular senescence and allowing for cancer cell metastasis; however, these properties could not be tested in this study.

89

#### 4.3 FOXM1 Regulates the NPM-ALK/STAT3 Axis

The exact mechanism in how FOXM1 is essential for NPM-ALK+ ALCL seems to be multifaceted. Indeed, experimental manipulation of the expression level of FOXM1 resulted in the expected changes in Cyclin B1, a well-known FOXM1 downstream target. Moreover, FOXM1 contributes to the activation/phosphorylation of NPM-ALK. Similarly, the activation/phosphorylation level of STAT3 mirrored that of pALK. The exact mechanism by which FOXM1 contributes to increased pALK and pSTAT3 levels remain a mystery. In this regard, it is known that FOXM1 can regulate several cellular signalling pathways through multiple mechanisms. For example, it has been shown that FOXM1 upregulates the expression and activity of STAT3 in a  $\beta$ -catenin-dependent manner in glioblastoma cells (266). In osteosarcoma cells, FOXM1 was also known to transcriptionally regulate the expression and phosphorylation c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK1) to drive cell proliferation (15).

Modulation of the NPM-ALK/STAT3 pathway by FOXM1 could be an important reason for the biological effects observed with FOXM1 knockdown in NPM-ALK+ ALCL. It has been well demonstrated previously that both NPM-ALK and STAT3 are required for the growth and survival of this cancer. As outlined in the Chapter 1, both NPM-ALK and STAT3 regulate key biological processes, including cell cycle progression, evasion of apoptosis and self-renewal. Furthermore, it is possible FOXM1 regulates several other cellular proteins and pathways which could not be fully examined in this work. In

90

summary, FOXM1 exerts some sort of biological influence of the NPM-ALK/STAT3 pathway by regulating their phosphorylation and perhaps expression.

#### 4.4 NPM-ALK Regulates FOXM1 transcriptional activity

One of the key findings of this study is that NPM-ALK promotes the DNA binding and transcriptional activity of FOXM1. This conclusion is based on the observations that knockdown of NPM-ALK significantly reduce FOXM1 reporter activity and its binding to the FOXM1 DNA probe. Furthermore, results from the ChIP assay provided further support and validation to this conclusion. The functional role of NPM-ALK localized to the nucleus is largely unknown. The data presented here, considering that FOXM1 is largely localized to the nucleus, suggests that NPM-ALK can exert oncogenic effects in the nuclei of NPM-ALK+ ALCL cells, by promoting the biological activity of oncogenic transcription factors such as FOXM1.

The experimental results also have shed light into how NPM-ALK regulates the transcriptional activity of FOXM1. Specifically, the data points to a model in which the NPM-ALK facilitated DNA binding (and hence the transcriptional activity) of FOXM1 requires physical interaction between NPM-ALK and FOXM1. How exactly FOXM1 binds to NPM-ALK was thoroughly examined in this study. In this regard, two important features of NPM-ALK localized in the nucleus of NPM-ALK+ ALCL cells are highly relevant. First, NPM-ALK has been reported to exist predominantly as NPM-ALK—NPM1 heterodimer in the nuclei of NPM-ALK+ ALCL cells (39). Second, a previously published study showed

that FOXM1 can bind to the heterodimer domain of NPM1 (23), a segment close to the C-terminus of NPM1 which is known to be not represented in the fusion NPM-ALK protein (12, 40). This experimental data is consistent with the hypothetical model depicted in Figure 8. It was found that the NPM1 portion of NPM-ALK is crucial to binding to FOXM1, as EML-ALK and full length ALK were unable to bind to FOXM1. In this regard, this data suggests that the ALK portion alone cannot efficiently interact with FOXM1. Thus, this study found further evidence of the pathogenetic role of NPM1, a protein highly implicated in the pathogenesis of acute myeloid leukemias (AML) (218), in NPM-ALK+ ALCL. Interestingly, this is in parallel to how NPM1 is believed to promote tumorigenesis. Specifically, NPM1 has been shown to facilitate DNA binding and transcriptional activity of oncoproteins such as c-MYC and NFκB-p65 (267, 268).

It appears that the phosphorylation status of NPM-ALK is important in regulating the biological activity of FOXM1. This conclusion is based on the observation that transfection of NPM-ALK<sup>WT</sup>, but not the kinase-dead NPM-ALK<sup>FFF</sup>, significantly promoted the transcription activity of FOXM1. This is rather intriguing, as it has been reported that most NPM-ALK proteins present in the nuclei of NPM-ALK+ ALCL cells exist in the form of NPM-ALK—NPM1, which is not as highly phosphorylated as NPM-ALK dimer present in the cytoplasm of these cells (222). Nonetheless, a weak but definitive level of phosphorylated ALK can be detected in the nuclear fraction of NPM-ALK+ ALCL (222). It is possible that this relatively low level of NPM-ALK phosphorylation may have resulted in an optimal three-dimensional conformation in the NPM-ALK—NPM1 dimer, facilitating the physical interaction of NPM1 and FOXM1. This low level of NPM-ALK phosphorylation

also may have attracted the binding of other proteins to the NPM-ALK—NPM1—FOXM1 complex, facilitating the DNA binding of FOXM1.

In keeping with data presented in this study, FOXM1 was found to form a complex with NPM-ALK only in the presence of wild-type NPM-ALK. Taken together, these data suggest that NPM-ALK facilitates the DNA binding and transcriptional activity of FOXM1, and this process requires the phosphorylation of NPM-ALK as well as the presence of NPM1 as summarized in Figure 4.1.



**Figure 4.1 Hypothesized depiction of interaction between NPM-ALK and FOXM1.** NPM-ALK binds to FOXM1 through mutual interactions with NPM1. The phosphorylation of NPM-ALK further potentiates its ability to bind to FOXM1 and influence FOXM1 transcriptional activity.

#### 4.2 Limitations

One of the major limitations of NPM+ ALCL and several other lymphoma cell line models is the challenge of gene transfer efficiency. In this study, SupM2 and UCONN-L2 cell lines were found to have the highest transduction efficiency with lentivirus. Transduction of lentivirus expressing *green fluorescent protein* (GFP) achieves about 70% in SupM2 and 30% in UCONN-L2, respectively. Other NPM-ALK cell lines including Karpas 299, SUDHL-1, SR2 were found to have extremely poor gene transfer in the range of 1-5%. Thus, the study of FOXM1 and NPM-ALK could only restricted to SupM2 and UCONN-L2 cell lines. Whether or not the other NPM-ALK+ cell lines carry the same mechanisms as identified in SupM2 remains a mystery.

As mentioned in the *Introduction*, ALK+ ALCL presents itself with numerous *ALK* fusion partners besides NPM-ALK. Whether or not these fusion partners have an influence on FOXM1 function and transcriptional activity could not be evaluated in this study. NPM-ALK is the only fusion protein known in ALK+ALCL to be localized in both the nucleolus and nucleus. Other ALK fusion proteins do not share this same characteristic. These other ALK fusion proteins could serve as an excellent negative control when evaluating the functional properties between NPM-ALK and FOXM1 in test models.

To directly prove the protein-protein interactions of FOXM1, NPM1 and NPM-ALK, a system where proteins are absent would be the best suitable to conduct an appropriate study. However, this is difficult to achieve as the expression levels of FOXM1 and NPM1

are elevated in most immortal and cancer cell lines. One possible solution to this problem is to use the yeast two-hybrid system which could be used to evaluate the direct functional interaction between these three proteins.

#### **4.3 Future Directions**

In this study, one of the major discoveries was that FOXM1 could influence the phosphorylation and therefore the signalling of NPM-ALK+ ALCL cell lines. However, the exact mechanism of how FOXM1 influences the NPM-ALK/STAT3 signalling axis remains unknown. To understand exactly how FOXM1 controls the phosphorylation of NPM-ALK, STAT3 and several other possible proteins, ELISA or other phospho-proteomic analysis could be performed. These assays could potentially answer questions about exactly how FOXM1 regulates NPM-ALK and open new areas for evaluation.

Another possible tool that could be used is immunoprecipitation of FOXM1 followed by mass spectrometric analysis of proteins bound to FOXM1. These techniques could discern and identify the exact protein partners of FOXM1 in NPM+ ALCL. Lastly, RNA sequencing analysis or chromatin immunoprecipitation sequencing analysis could also help identify the exact nature of FOXM1 on the genome regulation of NPM-ALK+ ALCL. These assays could answer questions about whether, how and when FOXM1 is crucial to the development of NPM-ALK+ ALCL. For example, comparing the regulation of FOXM1 gene expression in mouse early thymocytes versus that of mouse possessing *NPM-ALK* thymocytes could reveal important details regarding how this protein mediates the oncogenesis of NPM-ALK+ lymphoma.

Additionally, the expression of FOXM1 in other ALK- ALCL could not be determined in this study. Future studies could compare the level of expression of FOXM1 in ALK+ vs in ALK- ALCL, and determine whether FOXM1 is relevant

### 4.4 Conclusions

In conclusion, this study reveals for the first time the importance of FOXM1 in NPM-ALK+ ALCL. The oncogenic effects of FOXM1 appears to be closely linked to NPM-ALK, the association of which contributes to the oncogenesis in these tumors. Furthermore, FOXM1 may be a potential therapeutic target in ALK+ALCL, and disruption of the binding between FOXM1 and NPM1 in the NPM-ALK—NPM1 heterodimers may serve as a highly specific anti-cancer therapeutic approach for NPM-ALK+ ALCL.

# References

- 1. Korver W, Roose J, Clevers H. The winged-helix transcription factor Trident is expressed in cycling cells. Nucleic acids research. 1997;25(9):1715-9.
- Korver W, Roose J, Wilson A, Clevers H. The Winged-Helix Transcription Factor Trident is Expressed in Actively Dividing Lymphocytes. Immunobiology. 1997;198(1):157-61.
- 3. Wierstra I. Chapter Three The Transcription Factor FOXM1 (Forkhead box M1): Proliferation-Specific Expression, Transcription Factor Function, Target Genes, Mouse Models, and Normal Biological Roles\*\*The present chapter is Part I of a two-part review on the transcription factor FOXM1. Part II of this FOXM1 review is published in Volume 119 of Advances in Cancer Research: Inken Wierstra, FOXM1 (Forkhead box M1) in tumorigenesis: overexpression in human cancer, implication in tumorigenesis, oncogenic functions, tumor-suppressive properties and target of anti-cancer therapy. Advances in Cancer Research, 2013, Volume 119, in press. In: Tew KD, Fisher PB, editors. Advances in Cancer Research. 118: Academic Press; 2013. p. 97-398.
- Koo C-Y, Muir KW, Lam EWF. FOXM1: From cancer initiation to progression and treatment. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Gene Regulatory Mechanisms. 2012;1819(1):28-37.
- 5. Kaufmann E, Knöchel W. Five years on the wings of fork head. Mechanisms of Development. 1996;57(1):3-20.
- Weigel D, Jürgens G, Küttner F, Seifert E, Jäckle H. The homeotic gene fork head encodes a nuclear protein and is expressed in the terminal regions of the Drosophila embryo. Cell. 1989;57(4):645-58.
- 7. Hannenhalli S, Kaestner KH. The evolution of Fox genes and their role in development and disease. Nature reviews Genetics. 2009;10(4):233-40.
- 8. Golson ML, Kaestner KH. Fox transcription factors: from development to disease. Development. 2016;143(24):4558-70.
- Park HJ, Wang Z, Costa RH, Tyner A, Lau LF, Raychaudhuri P. An N-terminal inhibitory domain modulates activity of FoxM1 during cell cycle. Oncogene. 2008;27(12):1696-704.
- Littler DR, Alvarez-Fernandez M, Stein A, Hibbert RG, Heidebrecht T, Aloy P, et al. Structure of the FoxM1 DNA-recognition domain bound to a promoter sequence. Nucleic Acids Research. 2010;38(13):4527-38.
- Ye H, Kelly TF, Samadani U, Lim L, Rubio S, Overdier DG, et al. Hepatocyte nuclear factor 3/fork head homolog 11 is expressed in proliferating epithelial and mesenchymal cells of embryonic and adult tissues. Molecular and cellular biology. 1997;17(3):1626-41.
- Chaudhary J, Mosher R, Kim G, Skinner MK. Role of Winged Helix Transcription Factor (WIN) in the Regulation of Sertoli Cell Differentiated Functions: WIN Acts as an Early Event Gene for Follicle-Stimulating Hormone. Endocrinology. 2000;141(8):2758-66.
- 13. Wierstra I, Alves J. FOXM1, a typical proliferation-associated transcription factor. Biol Chem. 2007;388(12):1257-74.
- Ma RYM, Tong THK, Cheung AMS, Tsang ACC, Leung WY, Yao K-M. Raf/MEK/MAPK signaling stimulates the nuclear translocation and transactivating activity of FOXM1c. Journal of Cell Science. 2005;118(4):795-806.
- Wang IC, Chen YJ, Hughes DE, Ackerson T, Major ML, Kalinichenko VV, et al. FoxM1 regulates transcription of JNK1 to promote the G(1)/S transition and tumor cell invasiveness. J Biol Chem. 2008;283(30):20770-8.
- Wang IC, Chen Y-J, Hughes D, Petrovic V, Major ML, Park HJ, et al. Forkhead box M1 regulates the transcriptional network of genes essential for mitotic progression and genes encoding the SCF (Skp2-Cks1) ubiquitin ligase. Molecular and cellular biology. 2005;25(24):10875-94.
- 17. Park TJ, Kim JY, Park SH, Kim HS, Lim IK. Skp2 enhances polyubiquitination and degradation of TIS21(/BTG2/PC3), tumor suppressor protein, at the downstream of FoxM1. Exp Cell Res. 2009;315(18):3152-62.
- Jeffery JM, Kalimutho M, Johansson P, Cardenas DG, Kumar R, Khanna KK. FBXO31 protects against genomic instability by capping FOXM1 levels at the G2/M transition. Oncogene. 2017;36(7):1012-22.
- Wonsey DR, Follettie MT. Loss of the forkhead transcription factor FoxM1 causes centrosome amplification and mitotic catastrophe. Cancer Res. 2005;65(12):5181-9.
- 20. Huynh KM, Yeom YI, Fisher P, Kang D. Mechanism of FOXM1 down-regulation during terminal differentiation of human melanoma cells. Cancer Res. 2009;69.
- 21. Alvarez-Fernandez M, Halim VA, Krenning L, Aprelia M, Mohammed S, Heck AJ, et al. Recovery from a DNA-damage-induced G2 arrest requires Cdk-dependent activation of FoxM1. Embo Rep. 2010;11(6):452-8.
- 22. Chen Y-J, Dominguez-Brauer C, Wang Z, Asara JM, Costa RH, Tyner AL, et al. A Conserved Phosphorylation Site within the Forkhead Domain of FoxM1B Is Required for Its Activation by Cyclin-CDK1. J Biol Chem. 2009;284(44):30695-707.
- Penzo M, Massa PE, Olivotto E, Bianchi F, Borzi RM, Hanidu A, et al. Sustained NF-kappa B Activation Produces a Short-Term Cell Proliferation Block in Conjunction With Repressing Effectors of Cell Cycle Progression Controlled by E2F or FoxM1. J Cell Physiol. 2009;218(1):215-27.
- 24. Fu Z, Malureanu L, Huang J, Wang W, Li H, Van Deursen JM, et al. Plk1dependent phosphorylation of FoxM1 regulates a transcriptional programme required for mitotic progression. Nat Cell Biol. 2008;10(9):1076-82.
- 25. Dibb M, Han N, Choudhury J, Hayes S, Valentine H, West C, et al. The FOXM1-PLK1 axis is commonly upregulated in oesophageal adenocarcinoma. Brit J Cancer. 2012;107(10):1766-75.
- 26. Kalin TV, Ustiyan V, Kalinichenko VV. Multiple faces of FoxM1 transcription factor Lessons from transgenic mouse models. Cell Cycle. 2011;10(3):396-405.
- 27. Pohl BS, Rossner A, Knochel W. The Fox gene family in Xenopus laevis: Foxl2, FoxM1 and FoxP1 in early development. Int J Dev Biol. 2005;49(1):53-8.
- 28. Xie ZQ, Tan GX, Ding MA, Dong DF, Chen TH, Meng XX, et al. Foxm1 transcription factor is required for maintenance of pluripotency of P19 embryonal carcinoma cells. Nucleic Acids Research. 2010;38(22):8027-38.

- 29. Hou Y, Li W, Sheng Y, Li LP, Huang Y, Zhang ZH, et al. The transcription factor Foxm1 is essential for the quiescence and maintenance of hematopoietic stem cells. Nat Immunol. 2015;16(8):810-+.
- Xue L, Chiang L, He B, Zhao YY, Winoto A. FoxM1, a Forkhead Transcription Factor Is a Master Cell Cycle Regulator for Mouse Mature T Cells but Not Double Positive Thymocytes. Plos One. 2010;5(2).
- 31. Shah DK, Zúñiga-Pflücker JC. An Overview of the Intrathymic Intricacies of T Cell Development. The Journal of Immunology. 2014;192(9):4017-23.
- 32. Bella L, Zona S, de Moraes GN, Lam EWF. FOXM1: A key oncofoetal transcription factor in health and disease. Semin Cancer Biol. 2014;29:32-9.
- Leung TW, Lin SS, Tsang AC, Tong CS, Ching JC, Leung WY, et al. Overexpression of FoxM1 stimulates cyclin B1 expression. FEBS letters. 2001;507(1):59-66.
- 34. Karadedou CT. Regulation of the FOXM1 transcription factor by the estrogen receptor a at the protein level, in breast cancer. Hippokratia. 2006;10(3):128-32.
- 35. Bektas N, Wild P, Luscher-Firzlaff J, Luscher B, Hartmann A, Knuchel R, et al. Tight correlation between expression of the Forkhead transcription factor FoxM1 and HER2 in human breast cancer. Pathol Res Pract. 2007;203(5):305-6.
- 36. Francis RE, Myatt SS, Krol J, Hartman J, Peck B, McGovern UB, et al. FoxM1 is a downstream target and marker of HER2 overexpression in breast cancer. Int J Oncol. 2009;35(1):57-68.
- 37. McGovern UB, Francis RE, Peck B, Guest SK, Wang J, Myatt SS, et al. Gefitinib (Iressa) represses FOXM1 expression via FOXO3a in breast cancer. Mol Cancer Ther. 2009;8(3):582-91.
- Kwok JM, Peck B, Monteiro LJ, Schwenen HD, Millour J, Coombes RC, et al. FOXM1 confers acquired cisplatin resistance in breast cancer cells. Molecular cancer research : MCR. 2010;8(1):24-34.
- Kwok JMM, Peck B, Monteiro LJ, Schwenen HDC, Millour J, Coombes RC, et al. FOXM1 Confers Acquired Cisplatin Resistance in Breast Cancer Cells. Mol Cancer Res. 2010;8(1):24-34.
- 40. Horimoto Y, Hartman J, Millour J, Pollock S, Olmos Y, Ho KK, et al. ER beta 1 Represses FOXM1 Expression through Targeting ER alpha to Control Cell Proliferation in Breast Cancer. Am J Pathol. 2011;179(3):1148-56.
- 41. Millour J, de Olano N, Horimoto Y, Monteiro LJ, Langer JK, Aligue R, et al. ATM and p53 Regulate FOXM1 Expression via E2F in Breast Cancer Epirubicin Treatment and Resistance. Mol Cancer Ther. 2011;10(6):1046-58.
- 42. Yau C, Wang YX, Zhang Y, Foekens JA, Benz CC. Young age, increased tumor proliferation and FOXM1 expression predict early metastatic relapse only for endocrine-dependent breast cancers. Breast Cancer Res Tr. 2011;126(3):803-10.
- 43. Monteiro L, Lam EW. FOXM1 Regulates BRIP1 Expression in Breast Cancer Epirubicin Treatment and Resistance. Eur J Cancer. 2012;48:S173-S.
- 44. Carr JR, Kiefer MM, Park HJ, Li J, Wang ZB, Fontanarosa J, et al. FoxM1 Regulates Mammary Luminal Cell Fate. Cell Rep. 2012;1(6):715-29.

- 45. Wang JS, Ren TN, Xi T. Ursolic acid induces apoptosis by suppressing the expression of FoxM1 in MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. Med Oncol. 2012;29(1):10-5.
- 46. Ahn SG, Lee HM, Lee HW, Lee SA, Leem SH, Jeong J, et al. High standardized uptake value of 18F-fluorodeoxy-glucose positron emission tomography is related with FOXM1 expression, which negatively influences survival in breast cancer patients. Cancer Res. 2013;73.
- 47. Yang C, Chen H, Tan GX, Gao W, Cheng L, Jiang X, et al. FOXM1 promotes the epithelial to mesenchymal transition by stimulating the transcription of Slug in human breast cancer. Cancer Lett. 2013;340(1):104-12.
- 48. Yom CK, Lee KM, Han W, Kim SW, Moon HG, Noh DY. FoxM1 as a potential therapeutic target for triple-negative breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(15).
- 49. Bergamaschi A, Madak-Erdogan Z, Lu HL, Katzenellenbogen BS. Genome-wide analysis of FOXM1 binding and involvement of FOXM1 in cancer stem cell and metastasis properties of endocrine-sensitive and resistant breast cancer cells. Cancer Res. 2013;73(8).
- 50. Bergamaschl A, Madak-Erdogan Z, Lu HL, Katzenellenbogen BS. FOXM1dependent gene expression program controls cancer stem cell and metastasis properties of breast cancer cells. Cancer Res. 2013;73.
- 51. Sanders DA, Ross-Innes CS, Beraldi D, Carroll JS, Balasubramanian S. Genomewide mapping of FOXM1 binding reveals co-binding with estrogen receptor alpha in breast cancer cells. Genome Biol. 2013;14(1).
- 52. Arora R, Yates C, Gary BD, McClellan S, Tan M, Xi YG, et al. Panepoxydone Targets NF-kB and FOXM1 to Inhibit Proliferation, Induce Apoptosis and Reverse Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition in Breast Cancer. Plos One. 2014;9(6).
- 53. Bergamaschi A, Madak-Erdogan Z, Kim YJ, Choi YL, Lu HL, Katzenellenbogen BS. The forkhead transcription factor FOXM1 promotes endocrine resistance and invasiveness in estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer by expansion of stem-like cancer cells. Breast Cancer Res. 2014;16(5).
- 54. de Moraes GN, Delbue D, Silva KL, Robaina MC, Khongkow P, Gomes AR, et al. FOXM1 targets XIAP and Survivin to modulate breast cancer survival and chemoresistance. Cell Signal. 2015;27(12):2496-505.
- 55. Chu IS, Kim SK, Roh YG, Leem SH. Identification of FOXM1 driven gene network as a prognostic marker in breast cancer. Cancer Res. 2015;75.
- 56. Tan XH, Fu YB, Chen L, An SJ, Lee W, Lai YL, et al. miR-671-5p promotes epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition by downregulating FOXM1 expression in breast cancer. Cancer Res. 2015;75.
- 57. Ahmed M, Hussain A, Begum R, Thangavel S, Ajarim DS, Beg S, et al. Overexpression of FoxM1 in breast cancer can be therapeutically targeted using thiostrepton. Cancer Res. 2015;75.
- 58. Ye XJ, Zhang Y, He B, Meng YS, Li YD, Gao Y. Quantitative proteomic analysis identifies new effectors of FOXM1 involved in breast cancer cell migration. Int J Clin Exp Patho. 2015;8(12):15836-44.
- 59. Rajamanickam S, Panneerdoss S, Gorthi A, Timilsina S, Onyeagucha B, Kovalskyy D, et al. Inhibition of FoxM1-Mediated DNA Repair by Imipramine

Blue Suppresses Breast Cancer Growth and Metastasis. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(14):3524-36.

- 60. Karunarathna U, Kongsema M, Zona S, Gong C, Cabrera E, Gomes AR, et al. OTUB1 inhibits the ubiquitination and degradation of FOXM1 in breast cancer and epirubicin resistance. Oncogene. 2016;35(11):1433-44.
- 61. Tan XH, Fu YB, Chen L, Lee W, Lai YL, Rezaei K, et al. miR-671-5p inhibits epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition by downregulating FOXM1 expression in breast cancer. Oncotarget. 2016;7(1):293-307.
- 62. Liu LL, Shen H, Wang Y. CRY2 is suppressed by FOXM1 mediated promoter hypermethylation in breast cancer. Biochem Bioph Res Co. 2017;490:44-50.
- 63. Bu R, Siraj AK, Ahmed M, Al-Dayel F, Al-Kuraya KS. Targeting FoxM1 in inducing anticancer effects in triple-negative breast cancer cells. Cancer Res. 2017;77.
- 64. Song X, Kenston SSF, Zhao JS, Yang DT, Gu YL. Roles of FoxM1 in cell regulation and breast cancer targeting therapy. Med Oncol. 2017;34(3).
- 65. Ring A, Nguyen C, Smbatyan G, Tripathy D, Yu M, Press M, et al. CBP/beta-Catenin/FOXM1 Is a Novel Therapeutic Target in Triple Negative Breast Cancer. Cancers. 2018;10(12).
- Bayraktar R, Ivan C, Bayraktar E, Kanlikilicer P, Kabil NN, Kahraman N, et al. Dual Suppressive Effect of miR-34a on the FOXM1/eEF2-Kinase Axis Regulates Triple-Negative Breast Cancer Growth and Invasion. Clin Cancer Res. 2018;24(17):4225-41.
- 67. Lee JH, Lee HJ, Sim DY, Jung JH, Kim KR, Kim SH. Apoptotic effect of lambertianic acid through AMPK/FOXM1 signaling in MDA-MB231 breast cancer cells. Phytother Res. 2018;32(9):1755-63.
- Lu XF, Zeng D, Liang WQ, Chen CF, Sun SM, Lin HY. FoxM1 is a promising candidate target in the treatment of breast cancer. Oncotarget. 2018;9(1):842-52.
- 69. Tan YL, Wang QX, Xie YB, Qiao XX, Zhang S, Wang YA, et al. Identification of FOXM1 as a specific marker for triple-negative breast cancer. Int J Oncol. 2019;54(1):87-97.
- 70. Fang PP, Madden J, Neums L, Chien J. FOXM1 inhibition by thiostrepton synergizes with olaparib by attenuating adaptive response in ovarian cancer cells. Clin Cancer Res. 2018;24(15):66-.
- 71. Westhoff GL, Chen Y, Teng NNH. Targeting FOXM1 Improves Cytotoxicity of Paclitaxel and Cisplatinum in Platinum-Resistant Ovarian Cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2017;27(8):1602-9.
- 72. Tassi RA, Todeschini P, Siegel ER, Calza S, Cappella P, Ardighieri L, et al. FOXM1 expression is significantly associated with chemotherapy resistance and adverse prognosis in non-serous epithelial ovarian cancer patients. J Exp Clin Canc Res. 2017;36.
- 73. Chan DW, Hui WWY, Wang JJ, Yung MMH, Hui LMN, Qin Y, et al. DLX1 acts as a crucial target of FOXM1 to promote ovarian cancer aggressiveness by enhancing TGF-beta/SMAD4 signaling. Oncogene. 2017;36(10):1404-16.
- 74. Wang Y, Yun YY, Wu B, Wen L, Wen ML, Yang HL, et al. FOXM1 promotes reprogramming of glucose metabolism in epithelial ovarian cancer cells via activation of GLUT1 and HK2 transcription. Oncotarget. 2016;7(30):47985-97.

- 75. Wang YQ, Zhou XR, Xu MD, Weng WW, Zhang QY, Yang YS, et al. OTUB1catalyzed deubiquitination of FOXM1 facilitates tumor progression and predicts a poor prognosis in ovarian cancer. Oncotarget. 2016;7(24):36681-97.
- 76. Liu Z, Xiao Y, Ning SQ, Li ZY, Zhu YY, Hu G. Effect of taxol on the expression of FoxM1 ovarian cancer-associated gene. Oncol Lett. 2016;11(6):4035-9.
- 77. Zhang X, Cheng LH, Minn K, Waggoner M, Parelkar NK, Jokar I, et al. Targeting p53-FoxM1 axis in ovarian cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21.
- 78. Barger CJ, Zhang W, Odunsi K, Karpf AR. FOXM1 expression in epithelial ovarian cancer coincides with gene amplification and functional loss of p53 and Rb and drives G2-M progression and target gene expression. Cancer Res. 2015;75.
- 79. Madden J, Chien J. Evidence for modulation of FoxM1 by p21 in ovarian cancer. Cancer Res. 2015;75.
- 80. Chiu WT, Huang YF, Tsai HY, Chen CC, Chang CH, Huang SC, et al. FOXM1 confers to epithelial-mesenchymal transition, stemness and chemoresistance in epithelial ovarian carcinoma cells. Oncotarget. 2015;6(4):2349-65.
- Tassi RA, Todeschini P, Cadei M, Erba E, Ardighieri L, Calza S, et al. Expression Pattern and Molecular Function of Trascription Factor Foxm1 (Forkhead Box Protein M1) in Epithelial Ovarian Cancer Clinical Specimens and Cell Lines. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2013;23(8).
- 82. Lok GTM, Chan DW, Liu VWS, Ngan HY. Over-expression of FOXM1 is associated with cell migration/invasion in ovarian cancer. Cancer Res. 2010;70.
- 83. Gialmanidis IP, Bravou V, Amanetopoulou SG, Varakis J, Kourea H, Papadaki H. Overexpression of hedgehog pathway molecules and FOXM1 in non-small cell lung carcinomas. Lung Cancer. 2009;66(1):64-74.
- 84. Chetty C, Bhoopathi P, Rao JS, Lakka SS. Inhibition of matrix metalloproteinase-2 enhances radiosensitivity by abrogating radiation-induced FoxM1-mediated G2/M arrest in A549 lung cancer cells. Int J Cancer. 2009;124(10):2468-77.
- 85. Balli D, Zhang YF, Snyder J, Kalinichenko VV, Kalin TV. Endothelial Cell-Specific Deletion of Transcription Factor FoxM1 Increases Urethane-Induced Lung Carcinogenesis. Cancer Res. 2011;71(1):40-50.
- 86. Xu N, Jia DS, Chen WF, Ge D, Bai CX. Clinical significance and functional roles of FoxM1 in non-small cell lung cancer. Eur Respir J. 2012;40.
- 87. Balli D, Ren X, Chou FS, Cross E, Zhang Y, Kalinichenko VV, et al. Foxm1 transcription factor is required for macrophage migration during lung inflammation and tumor formation. Oncogene. 2012;31(34):3875-88.
- 88. Xu N, Zhang X, Wang X, Ge HY, Wang XY, Garfield D, et al. FoxM1 mediated resistance to gefitinib in non-small-cell lung cancer cells. Acta Pharmacol Sin. 2012;33(5):675-81.
- 89. Xu N, Wu SD, Wang H, Wang Q, Bai CX. Involvement of FoxM1 in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Recurrence. Asian Pac J Cancer P. 2012;13(9):4739-43.
- Wang Y, Wen L, Zhao SH, Ai ZH, Guo JZ, Liu WC. FoxM1 expression is significantly associated with cisplatin-based chemotherapy resistance and poor prognosis in advanced non-small cell lung cancer patients. Lung Cancer. 2013;79(2):173-9.

- 91. Wang IC, Ustiyan V, Zhang Y, Cai Y, Kalin TV, Kalinichenko VV. Foxm1 transcription factor is required for the initiation of lung tumorigenesis by oncogenic Kras(G12D). Oncogene. 2014;33(46):5391-6.
- 92. Ning Z, Wang AM, Liang JX, Xie YP, Liu JW, Feng L, et al. USP22 promotes the G1/S phase transition by upregulating FoxM1 expression via beta-catenin nuclear localization and is associated with poor prognosis in stage II pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Int J Oncol. 2014;45(4):1594-608.
- Carlini MJ, Smith D, Nunez M, Lupinacci L, Grasselli J, Boggio G, et al. Prognostic Value of Dec2 and Foxm1 Expression in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Patients. J Thorac Oncol. 2014;9(9):S164-S.
- 94. Kong FF, Qu ZQ, Yuan HH, Wang JY, Zhao M, Guo YH, et al. Overexpression of FOXM1 is associated with EMT and is a predictor of poor prognosis in non-small cell lung cancer. Oncol Rep. 2014;31(6):2660-8.
- 95. Liu YH, Hock JM, Van Beneden RJ, Li X. Aberrant overexpression of FOXM1 transcription factor plays a critical role in lung carcinogenesis induced by low doses of arsenic. Mol Carcinogen. 2014;53(5):380-91.
- 96. Kong FF, Zhu YL, Yuan HH, Wang JY, Zhao M, Gong XD, et al. FOXM1 Regulated by ERK Pathway Mediates TGF-beta 1-Induced EMT in NSCLC. Oncol Res. 2014;22(1):29-37.
- 97. Zhang J, Zhang J, Cui XH, Yang Y, Li M, Qu JK, et al. FoxM1: a novel tumor biomarker of lung cancer. Int J Clin Exp Med. 2015;8(3):3136-40.
- 98. Sun Q, Dong M, Chen YJ, Zhang JW, Qiao JP, Guo XD. Prognostic significance of FoxM1 expression in non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Dis. 2016;8(6).
- Stoll SW, Stuart PE, Swindell WR, Tsoi LČ, Li B, Gandarillas A, et al. The EGF receptor ligand amphiregulin controls cell division via FoxM1. Oncogene. 2016;35(16):2075-86.
- 100. Zhang Y, Qiao WB, Shan L. Expression and functional characterization of FOXM1 in non-small cell lung cancer. Oncotargets Ther. 2018;11:3385-93.
- 101. Li DW, Wei P, Peng ZH, Huang C, Tang HM, Jia ZL, et al. The critical role of dysregulated FOXM1-PLAUR signaling in human colon cancer progression and metastasis. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(4).
- 102. Song IS, Jeong YJ, Jeong SH, Heo HJ, Kim HK, Bae KB, et al. FOXM1-Induced PRX3 Regulates Stemness and Survival of Colon Cancer Cells via Maintenance of Mitochondrial Function. Gastroenterology. 2015;149(4):1006-U736.
- 103. Ahmed M, Hussain AR, Siraj AK, Uddin S, Al-Sanea N, Al-Dayel F, et al. Cotargeting of Cyclooxygenase-2 and FoxM1 is a viable strategy in inducing anticancer effects in colorectal cancer cells. Mol Cancer. 2015;14.
- 104. Khalid A, Ozden O, Jung B. FOXM1-SIRTUIN Interaction Decreases the Expression of FOXM1 in Colon and Pancreatic Cancers. Gastroenterology. 2016;150(4):S295-S.
- 105. Costa RH, Gusarova GA, Wang IC, Major ML, Kalinichenko VV, Ackerson T, et al. A cell penetrating ARF peptide inhibitor of the Foxm1 transcription factor is an effective treatment for hepatocellular carcinoma in vivo. Cancer Res. 2006;66(8).

- 106. Gusarova GA, Wang IC, Major ML, Kalinichenko VV, Ackerson T, Petrovic V, et al. A cell-penetrating ARF peptide inhibitor of FoxM1 in mouse hepatocellular carcinoma treatment. J Clin Invest. 2007;117(1):99-111.
- 107. Wu QF, Liu C, Yu M, Liu D, Tai MH, Tian M, et al. FoxM1 is overexpressed in human hepatocellular cancer and associated with cancer progression. J Am Coll Surgeons. 2010;211(3):S125-S.
- 108. Sun HC, Teng MJ, Liu J, Jin D, Wu JY, Yan DW, et al. FOXM1 expression predicts the prognosis in hepatocellular carcinoma patients after orthotopic liver transplantation combined with the Milan criteria. Cancer Lett. 2011;306(2):214-22.
- 109. Xia LM, Huang WJ, Tian DA, Zhu HW, Zhang YG, Hu H, et al. Upregulated FoxM1 expression induced by hepatitis B virus X protein promotes tumor metastasis and indicates poor prognosis in hepatitis B virus-related hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol. 2012;57(3):600-12.
- 110. Feng HS, Gang AJ, Yan W, Juan CJ, Zhang LP. FOXM1 Expression Correlates with both in vivo and in vitro AFP production and Therapeutic Effect of Thiostrepton on Human Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Hepatology. 2013;58:1085aa.
- 111. Hu CJ, He SM. LXR alpha-mediated downregulation of FOXM1 suppresses the proliferation of hepatocellular carcinoma cells. J Gastroen Hepatol. 2013;28:185-.
- 112. Qu K, Xu XS, Liu C, Wu QF, Wei JC, Meng FD, et al. Negative regulation of transcription factor FoxM1 by p53 enhances oxaliplatin-induced senescence in hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Lett. 2013;331(1):105-14.
- 113. Sun BL, Ronquillo N, Raychaudhuri P, Guzman G. Correlation of Foxm1 and Oxidative Stress Induced DNA Damage in Human Hepatocellular Carcinoma. J Invest Med. 2015;63(4):672-3.
- 114. Ronquillo N, Sun B, Xie H, Raychaudhuri P, Guzman G. Mesenchymal Expression of CD90 and Nuclear Expression of FOXM1 Correlate With Disease Progression in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Modern Pathol. 2015;28:187a-8a.
- 115. Meng FD, Wei JC, Qu K, Wang ZX, Wu QF, Tai MH, et al. FoxM1 overexpression promotes epithelial-mesenchymal transition and metastasis of hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Gastroentero. 2015;21(1):196-213.
- 116. Zhang NN, Xie YP, Li BK, Ning Z, Wang AA, Cui XN. FoxM1 influences mouse hepatocellular carcinoma metastasis in vitro. Int J Clin Exp Patho. 2015;8(3):2771-8.
- 117. Zhang HJ, Ackermann AM, Gusarova GA, Lowe D, Feng X, Kopsombut UG, et al. The FoxM1 transcription factor is required to maintain pancreatic beta-cell mass. Mol Endocrinol. 2006;20(8):1853-66.
- 118. Ackermann AM, Gannon M. Pancreatic beta cell mass regeneration and expansion - A role for FoxM1? Dev Biol. 2007;306(1):395-.
- 119. Wang ZW, Ahmad A, Banerjee S, Azmi A, Kong DJ, Li YW, et al. FoxM1 is a Novel Target of a Natural Agent in Pancreatic Cancer. Pharm Res-Dordr. 2010;27(6):1159-68.

- 120. Davis DB, Lavine JA, Suhonen JI, Krautkramer KA, Rabaglia ME, Sperger JM, et al. Foxm1 Is Upregulated by Non-Diabetic Obesity and Stimulates Pancreatic Beta-Cell Proliferation. J Invest Med. 2010;58(4):665-6.
- 121. Quan M, Wang PP, Cui JJ, Gao Y, Xie KP. The roles of FOXM1 in pancreatic stem cells and carcinogenesis. Mol Cancer. 2013;12.
- 122. Huang C, Qiu ZJ, Xie KP. FOXM1 promotes pancreatic cancer epithelial-tomesenchymal transition and metastasis via upregulation of uPAR and Caveolin-1. Int J Mol Med. 2014;34:S88-S.
- 123. Li XY, Wu HY, Mao XF, Jiang LX, Wang YX. USP5 promotes tumorigenesis and progression of pancreatic cancer by stabilizing FoxM1 protein. Biochem Bioph Res Co. 2017;492(1):48-54.
- 124. Shirakawa J, Fernandez M, Takatani T, El Ouaamari A, Jungtrakoon P, Okawa ER, et al. Insulin Signaling Regulates the FoxM1/PLK1/CENP-A Pathway to Promote Adaptive Pancreatic beta Cell Proliferation. Cell Metab. 2017;25(4):868-+.
- 125. Sun L, Wang Y, Li Q, Wang L, Wang C, Yao B, et al. Hepatic stellate cells (HSCs) activating HSF1-mediated COMP secretion promote liver metastasis of pancreatic cancer through CD36/AKT/FOXM1 signaling. Ann Oncol. 2018;29:10-.
- 126. Zhou ZS, Chen HD, Xie R, Wang HJ, Li SL, Xu QQ, et al. Epigenetically modulated FOXM1 suppresses dendritic cell maturation in pancreatic cancer and colon cancer. Mol Oncol. 2019;13(4):873-93.
- 127. Liu C, Shi JQ, Li QW, Li ZW, Lou CJ, Zhao Q, et al. STAT1-mediated inhibition of FOXM1 enhances gemcitabine sensitivity in pancreatic cancer. Clin Sci. 2019;133(5):645-63.
- 128. Cai YQ, Balli D, Ustiyan V, Fulford L, Hiller A, Misetic V, et al. Foxm1 Expression in Prostate Epithelial Cells Is Essential for Prostate Carcinogenesis. J Biol Chem. 2013;288(31):22527-41.
- 129. Wang YR, Yao BW, Wang Y, Zhang MB, Fu S, Gao HJ, et al. Increased FoxM1 expression is a target for metformin in the suppression of EMT in prostate cancer. Int J Mol Med. 2014;33(6):1514-22.
- 130. Liu YH, Gong ZC, Sun LQ, Li X. FOXM1 and androgen receptor co-regulate CDC6 gene transcription and DNA replication in prostate cancer cells. Bba-Gene Regul Mech. 2014;1839(4):297-305.
- 131. Sayanjali B, Christensen GJM, Al-Zeer MA, Mollenkopf HJ, Meyer TF, Bruggemann H. Propionibacterium acnes inhibits FOXM1 and induces cell cycle alterations in human primary prostate cells. Int J Med Microbiol. 2016;306(7):517-28.
- 132. Lin SC, Kao CY, Lee HJ, Creighton CJ, Ittmann MM, Tsai SJ, et al. Dysregulation of miRNAs-COUP-TFII-FOXM1-CENPF axis contributes to the metastasis of prostate cancer. Nat Commun. 2016;7.
- 133. Kim MY, Jung AR, Kim GE, Yang J, Ha US, Hong SH, et al. High FOXM1 expression is a prognostic marker for poor clinical outcomes in prostate cancer. J Cancer. 2019;10(3):749-56.

- 134. Zhang N, Wei P, Gong AH, Chiu WT, Lee HT, Colman H, et al. FoxM1 Promotes beta-Catenin Nuclear Localization and Controls Wnt Target-Gene Expression and Glioma Tumorigenesis. Cancer Cell. 2011;20(4):427-42.
- 135. Zhang N, Wu XJ, Yang LX, Xiao FZ, Zhang H, Zhou AD, et al. FoxM1 Inhibition Sensitizes Resistant Glioblastoma Cells to Temozolomide by Downregulating the Expression of DNA-Repair Gene Rad51. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18(21):5961-71.
- 136. Joshi K, Banasavadi-Siddegowda Y, Mo XK, Kim SH, Mao P, Kig C, et al. MELK-Dependent FOXM1 Phosphorylation is Essential for Proliferation of Glioma Stem Cells. Stem Cells. 2013;31(6):1051-63.
- 137. Maachani UB, Tandle AT, Shankavaram U, Meushaw T, Tofilon PJ, Camphausen KA. Profiling signaling networks using reverse phase protein arrays: validating FOXM1 as a potential target to radiosensitize glioblastoma (GBM) stem cells. Cancer Res. 2014;74(19).
- 138. Brierley DJ, Locke M, Merve A, Marino S, Martin SA. Targeting Foxm1 as a Novel Therapeutic Strategy for the Treatment of Msh6 Deficient Temozolomide-Resistant Glioblastoma. Neuro-Oncology. 2014;16.
- 139. Gong AH, Wei P, Zhang S, Yao J, Yuan Y, Zhou AD, et al. FoxM1 Drives a Feed-Forward STAT3-Activation Signaling Loop That Promotes the Self-Renewal and Tumorigenicity of Glioblastoma Stem-like Cells. Cancer research. 2015;75(11):2337-48.
- 140. Quan JJ, Song JN, Qu JQ. PARP3 interacts with FoxM1 to confer glioblastoma cell radioresistance. Tumor Biol. 2015;36(11):8617-24.
- 141. Lee Y, Kim KH, Kim DG, Cho HJ, Kim Y, Rheey J, et al. FoxM1 Promotes Stemness and Radio-Resistance of Glioblastoma by Regulating the Master Stem Cell Regulator Sox2. Plos One. 2015;10(10).
- 142. Maachani UB, Shankavaram U, Kramp T, Tofilon PJ, Camphausen K, Tandle AT. FOXM1 and STAT3 interaction confers radioresistance in glioblastoma cells. Oncotarget. 2016;7(47):77365-77.
- 143. Wang ZB, Park HJ, Carr JR, Chen YJ, Zheng Y, Li J, et al. FoxM1 in Tumorigenicity of the Neuroblastoma Cells and Renewal of the Neural Progenitors. Cancer Res. 2011;71(12):4292-302.
- 144. Ho C, Wang CM, Mattu S, Destefanis G, Ladu S, Delogu S, et al. AKT (v-akt murine thymoma viral oncogene homolog 1) and N-Ras (neuroblastoma ras viral oncogene homolog) coactivation in the mouse liver promotes rapid carcinogenesis by way of mTOR (mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1), FOXM1 (forkhead box M1)/SKP2, and c-Myc pathways. Hepatology. 2012;55(3):833-45.
- 145. Vanhauwaert S, Decaesteker B, De Brouwer S, Leonelli C, Durinck K, Mestdagh P, et al. In silico discovery of a FOXM1 driven embryonal signaling pathway in therapy resistant neuroblastoma tumors. Sci Rep-Uk. 2018;8.
- 146. Decaesteker B, Denecker G, Van Neste C, Dolman EM, Van Loocke W, Gartlgruber M, et al. TBX2 is a neuroblastoma core regulatory circuitry component enhancing MYCN/FOXM1 reactivation of DREAM targets. Nat Commun. 2018;9.

- 147. Gimenez TM, Neves NH, Santos AR, Marchi FA, Kulikowski L, Cristofani LM, et al. BLM, FOXO3, FOXK2, FOXM1, FOXR1 genes as therapeutic targets to neuroblastoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2018;24(1):71-2.
- 148. Barger CJ, Branick C, Chee L, Karpf AR. Pan-Cancer Analyses Reveal Genomic Features of FOXM1 Overexpression in Cancer. Cancers. 2019;11(2).
- 149. Barsotti AM, Prives C. Pro-proliferative FoxM1 is a target of p53-mediated repression. Oncogene. 2009;28(48):4295-305.
- 150. Pandit B, Halasi M, Gartel AL. p53 negatively regulates expression of FoxM1. Cell Cycle. 2009;8(20):3425-7.
- 151. Imai Y, Takahashi A, Hanyu A, Hori S, Sato S, Naka K, et al. Crosstalk between the Rb Pathway and AKT Signaling Forms a Quiescence-Senescence Switch. Cell Rep. 2014;7(1):194-207.
- 152. Mencalha AL, Binato R, Ferreira GM, Du Rocher B, Abdelhay E. Forkhead box M1 (FoxM1) gene is a new STAT3 transcriptional factor target and is essential for proliferation, survival and DNA repair of K562 cell line. PloS one. 2012;7(10):e48160.
- 153. Silva LS, Goncalves LG, Silva F, Domingues G, Maximo V, Ferreira J, et al. STAT3:FOXM1 and MCT1 drive uterine cervix carcinoma fitness to a lactate-rich microenvironment. Tumor Biol. 2016;37(4):5385-95.
- 154. Zhang DZ, Chen BH, Zhang LF, Cheng MK, Fang XJ, Wu XJ. Basic Transcription Factor 3 Is Required for Proliferation and Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition via Regulation of FOXM1 and JAK2/STAT3 Signaling in Gastric Cancer. Oncol Res. 2017;25(9):1453-62.
- 155. Zeng JP, Wang LX, Li Q, Li WJ, Bjorkholm M, Jia J, et al. FoxM1 is up-regulated in gastric cancer and its inhibition leads to cellular senescence, partially dependent on p27(kip1). J Pathol. 2009;218(4):419-27.
- 156. Li SKM, Smith DK, Leung WY, Cheung AMS, Lam EWF, Dimri GP, et al. FoxM1c counteracts oxidative stress-induced senescence and stimulates Bmi-1 expression. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2008;283(24):16545-53.
- 157. Cui JJ, Shi M, Xie DC, Wei DY, Jia ZL, Zheng SJ, et al. FOXM1 Promotes the Warburg Effect and Pancreatic Cancer Progression via Transactivation of LDHA Expression. Clin Cancer Res. 2014;20(10):2595-606.
- 158. Gemenetzidis E, Elena-Costea D, Parkinson EK, Waseem A, Wan H, Teh MT. Induction of Human Epithelial Stem/Progenitor Expansion by FOXM1. Cancer Res. 2010;70(22):9515-26.
- 159. Ustiyan V, Wert SE, Ikegami M, Wang IC, Kalin TV, Whitsett JA, et al. Foxm1 transcription factor is critical for proliferation and differentiation of Clara cells during development of conducting airways. Developmental biology. 2012;370(2):198-212.
- 160. Xie Z, Tan G, Ding M, Dong D, Chen T, Meng X, et al. Foxm1 transcription factor is required for maintenance of pluripotency of P19 embryonal carcinoma cells. Nucleic acids research. 2010;38(22):8027-38.
- 161. Yang XP, Shi YY, Yan JZ, Fan HT. Downregulation of FoxM1 inhibits cell growth and migration and invasion in bladder cancer cells. Am J Transl Res. 2018;10(2):629-+.

- 162. Miao LF, Xiong XZ, Lin YX, Cheng Y, Lu J, Zhang J, et al. Down-regulation of FoxM1 leads to the inhibition of the epithelial-mesenchymal transition in gastric cancer cells. Cancer Genet-Ny. 2014;207(3):75-82.
- 163. Ahmad A, Wang ZW, Kong DJ, Ali S, Li YW, Banerjee S, et al. FoxM1 downregulation leads to inhibition of proliferation, migration and invasion of breast cancer cells through the modulation of extra-cellular matrix degrading factors (Retracted article. See vol. 158, pg. 607, 2016). Breast Cancer Res Tr. 2010;122(2):337-46.
- 164. Zhang HG, Xu XW, Shi XP, Han BW, Li ZH, Ren WH, et al. Overexpression of forkhead box protein M1 (FOXM1) plays a critical role in colorectal cancer. Clin Transl Oncol. 2016;18(5):527-32.
- 165. Zhang Y, Zhang N, Dai B, Liu M, Sawaya R, Xie K, et al. FoxM1B transcriptionally regulates vascular endothelial growth factor expression and promotes the angiogenesis and growth of glioma cells. Cancer Res. 2008;68(21):8733-42.
- 166. Ahmed M, Uddin S, Hussain AR, Alyan A, Jehan Z, Al-Dayel F, et al. FoxM1 and Its Association with Matrix Metalloproteinases (MMP) Signaling Pathway in Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma. J Clin Endocr Metab. 2012;97(1):E1-E13.
- 167. Chen PM, Wu TC, Shieh SH, Wu YH, Li MC, Sheu GT, et al. MnSOD Promotes Tumor Invasion via Upregulation of FoxM1-MMP2 Axis and Related with Poor Survival and Relapse in Lung Adenocarcinomas. Mol Cancer Res. 2013;11(3):261-71.
- 168. Jin H, Li XJ, Park MH, Kim SM. FOXM1-mediated downregulation of uPA and MMP9 by 3,3 '-diindolylmethane inhibits migration and invasion of human colorectal cancer cells. Oncol Rep. 2015;33(6):3171-7.
- 169. Grindel BJ, Martinez J, Zafar H, Nakhleh LK, Chung LWK, Farach-Carson MC. Interplay between perlecan/HSPG2 and matrilysin/MMP-7 in the prostate cancer tumor microenvironment directs metastatic programming through focal adhesion kinase and FoxM1. Cancer Res. 2016;76.
- 170. Zhao LJ, Liu LJ, Dong Z, Xiong J. miR-149 suppresses human non-small cell lung cancer growth and metastasis by inhibiting the FOXM1/cyclin D1/MMP2 axis. Oncol Rep. 2017;38(6):3522-30.
- 171. Hsieh NT, Huang CY, Li CC, Wang IC, Lee MF. MED28 and forkhead box M1 (FOXM1) mediate matrix metalloproteinase 2 (MMP2)-dependent cellular migration in human nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC) cells. J Cell Physiol. 2019;234(7):11265-75.
- 172. Wang I-C, Chen Y-J, Hughes DE, Ackerson T, Major ML, Kalinichenko VV, et al. FoxM1 Regulates Transcription of JNK1 to Promote the G1/S Transition and Tumor Cell Invasiveness. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2008;283(30):20770-8.
- 173. Dudek AZ, Terai K. Transcription Factor Foxm1 and Tumor Suppressor Arf Effect on Melanoma Tumor Angiogenesis and Metastases. Anticancer Res. 2014;34(10):5891-.
- 174. Yung MMH, Chan DW, Liu VWS, Yao KM, Ngan HYS. Activation of AMPK inhibits cervical cancer cell growth through AKT/FOXO3a/FOXM1 signaling cascade. Bmc Cancer. 2013;13.

- 175. Gomes AR, Zhao F, Lam EWF. Role and regulation of the forkhead transcription factors FOXO3a and FOXM1 in carcinogenesis and drug resistance. Chin J Cancer. 2013;32(7):365-70.
- 176. Braga AC, Silva F, Lam EW, Felix A. Forkhead Box M1 (FOXM1) and Forkhead Box O3a (FOXO3a) expression in cervical carcinoma. Virchows Arch. 2015;467:S19-S.
- 177. Buchner M, Park E, Geng H, Klemm L, Flach J, Passegue E, et al. Identification of FOXM1 as a therapeutic target in B-cell lineage acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Nat Commun. 2015;6:6471.
- 178. Consolaro F, Basso G, Ghaem-Magami S, Lam EW, Viola G. FOXM1 is overexpressed in B-acute lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL) and its inhibition sensitizes B-ALL cells to chemotherapeutic drugs. International journal of oncology. 2015;47(4):1230-40.
- 179. Gu C, Yang Y, Sompallae R, Xu H, Tompkins VS, Holman C, et al. FOXM1 is a therapeutic target for high-risk multiple myeloma. Leukemia. 2016;30(4):873-82.
- 180. Uddin S, Hussain AR, Ahmed M, Siddiqui K, Al-Dayel F, Bavi P, et al. Overexpression of FoxM1 offers a promising therapeutic target in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Haematologica. 2012;97(7):1092-100.
- 181. Khan I, Halasi M, Patel A, Schultz R, Kalakota N, Chen Y-H, et al. FOXM1 contributes to treatment failure in acute myeloid leukemia. JCI Insight. 2018;3(15).
- 182. Nakamura S, Hirano I, Okinaka K, Takemura T, Yokota D, Ono T, et al. The FOXM1 transcriptional factor promotes the proliferation of leukemia cells through modulation of cell cycle progression in acute myeloid leukemia. Carcinogenesis. 2010;31(11):2012-21.
- 183. Uddin S, Hussain AR, Ahmed M, Siddiqui K, Al-Dayel F, Bavi P, et al. Overexpression of FoxM1 offers a promising therapeutic target in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Haematol-Hematol J. 2012;97(7):1092-100.
- 184. Siraj AK, Hussain AR, Ahmed M, Ahmed SO, Bu R, Al-Dayel F, et al. FoxM1 expression and its association with matrix metalloproteinases in diffuse large Bcell lymphoma. Cancer Res. 2011;71.
- 185. Khan I, Halasi M, Patel A, Schultz R, Kalakota N, Chen YH, et al. FOXM1 contributes to treatment failure in acute myeloid leukemia. Jci Insight. 2018;3(15).
- 186. Li L, Wu D, Yu Q, Li L, Wu P. Prognostic value of FOXM1 in solid tumors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Oncotarget. 2017;8(19):32298-308.
- 187. Dai J, Yang LL, Wang JY, Xiao Y, Ruan QR. Prognostic Value of FOXM1 in Patients with Malignant Solid Tumor: A Meta-Analysis and System Review. Dis Markers. 2015.
- 188. Halasi M, Gartel AL. A novel mode of FoxM1 regulation Positive auto-regulatory loop. Cell Cycle. 2009;8(12):1966-7.
- 189. Gartel AL. A new target for proteasome inhibitors: FoxM1. Expert Opin Inv Drug. 2010;19(2):235-42.
- 190. Bhat UG, Halasi M, Gartel AL. FoxM1 Is a General Target for Proteasome Inhibitors. Plos One. 2009;4(8).

- 191. Gartel AL. Thiazole Antibiotics Siomycin a and Thiostrepton Inhibit the Transcriptional Activity of FOXM1. Front Oncol. 2013;3:150-.
- 192. Guo XD, Liu AP, Hua HX, Lu HF, Zhang DD, Lin YN, et al. Siomycin A Induces Apoptosis in Human Lung Adenocarcinoma A549 Cells by Suppressing the Expression of FoxM1. Nat Prod Commun. 2015;10(9):1603-6.
- 193. Hegde NS, Sanders DA, Rodriguez R, Balasubramanian S. The transcription factor FOXM1 is a cellular target of the natural product thiostrepton. Nat Chem. 2011;3(9):725-31.
- 194. Xiang Q, Tan GX, Jiang X, Wu KP, Tan WH, Tan YJ. Suppression of FOXM1 Transcriptional Activities via a Single-Stranded DNA Aptamer Generated by SELEX. Sci Rep-Uk. 2017;7.
- 195. Holla VR, Elamin YY, Bailey AM, Johnson AM, Litzenburger BC, Khotskaya YB, et al. ALK: a tyrosine kinase target for cancer therapy. Cold Spring Harbor molecular case studies. 2017;3(1):a001115-a.
- 196. Morris S, Kirstein M, Valentine M, Dittmer K, Shapiro D, Saltman D, et al. Fusion of a kinase gene, ALK, to a nucleolar protein gene, NPM, in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Science. 1994;263(5151):1281-4.
- 197. Shiota M, Nakamura S, Ichinohasama R, Abe M, Akagi T, Takeshita M, et al. Anaplastic large cell lymphomas expressing the novel chimeric protein p80NPM/ALK: a distinct clinicopathologic entity. Blood. 1995;86(5):1954-60.
- 198. Ladanyi M, Cavalchire G. Detection of the NPM-ALK genomic rearrangement of Ki-1 lymphoma and isolation of the involved NPM and ALK introns. Diagnostic molecular pathology : the American journal of surgical pathology, part B. 1996;5(3):154-8.
- 199. Mathew P, Morris SW, Kane JR, Shurtleff SA, Pasquini M, Jenkins NA, et al. Localization of the murine homolog of the anaplastic lymphoma kinase (AIK) gene on mouse chromosome 17. Cytogenetics and cell genetics. 1995;70(1-2):143-4.
- 200. Iwahara T, Fujimoto J, Wen D, Cupples R, Bucay N, Arakawa T, et al. Molecular characterization of ALK, a receptor tyrosine kinase expressed specifically in the nervous system. Oncogene. 1997;14(4):439-49.
- 201. Morris SW, Naeve C, Mathew P, James PL, Kirstein MN, Cui X, et al. ALK, the chromosome 2 gene locus altered by the t(2;5) in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, encodes a novel neural receptor tyrosine kinase that is highly related to leukocyte tyrosine kinase (LTK). Oncogene. 1997;14(18):2175-88.
- 202. Stoica GE, Kuo A, Powers C, Bowden ET, Sale EB, Riegel AT, et al. Midkine binds to anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK) and acts as a growth factor for different cell types. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2002;277(39):35990-8.
- 203. Koyama-Nasu R, Haruta R, Nasu-Nishimura Y, Taniue K, Katou Y, Shirahige K, et al. The pleiotrophin-ALK axis is required for tumorigenicity of glioblastoma stem cells. Oncogene. 2014;33(17):2236-44.
- 204. Yanagisawa H, Komuta Y, Kawano H, Toyoda M, Sango K. Pleiotrophin induces neurite outgrowth and up-regulates growth-associated protein (GAP)-43 mRNA through the ALK/GSK3beta/beta-catenin signaling in developing mouse neurons. Neuroscience research. 2010;66(1):111-6.

- 205. Mathivet T, Mazot P, Vigny M. In contrast to agonist monoclonal antibodies, both C-terminal truncated form and full length form of Pleiotrophin failed to activate vertebrate ALK (anaplastic lymphoma kinase)? Cellular signalling. 2007;19(12):2434-43.
- 206. Reshetnyak AV, Murray PB, Shi X, Mo ES, Mohanty J, Tome F, et al. Augmentor alpha and beta (FAM150) are ligands of the receptor tyrosine kinases ALK and LTK: Hierarchy and specificity of ligand-receptor interactions. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2015;112(52):15862-7.
- 207. Lamant L, Pulford K, Bischof D, Morris SW, Mason DY, Delsol G, et al. Expression of the ALK tyrosine kinase gene in neuroblastoma. The American journal of pathology. 2000;156(5):1711-21.
- 208. Motegi A, Fujimoto J, Kotani M, Sakuraba H, Yamamoto T. ALK receptor tyrosine kinase promotes cell growth and neurite outgrowth. Journal of cell science. 2004;117(Pt 15):3319-29.
- 209. Drexler HG, Gignac SM, von Wasielewski R, Werner M, Dirks WG. Pathobiology of NPM-ALK and variant fusion genes in anaplastic large cell lymphoma and other lymphomas. Leukemia. 2000;14(9):1533-59.
- 210. Holla VR, Elamin YY, Bailey AM, Johnson AM, Litzenburger BC, Khotskaya YB, et al. ALK: a tyrosine kinase target for cancer therapy. Cold Spring Harbor molecular case studies. 2017;3(1):a001115.
- 211. Stein H, Mason D, Gerdes J, O'Connor N, Wainscoat J, Pallesen G, et al. The expression of the Hodgkin's disease associated antigen Ki-1 in reactive and neoplastic lymphoid tissue: evidence that Reed-Sternberg cells and histiocytic malignancies are derived from activated lymphoid cells. Blood. 1985;66(4):848-58.
- 212. Tsuyama N, Sakamoto K, Sakata S, Dobashi A, Takeuchi K. Anaplastic large cell lymphoma: pathology, genetics, and clinical aspects. Journal of Clinical and Experimental Hematopathology. 2017;57(3):120-42.
- 213. Kasai K, Kon S, Kikuchi K, Sato Y, Kameya T. Expression of carbohydrate antigens, p80NPM/ALK, cytotoxic cell-associated antigens, and Epstein-Barr virus gene products in anaplastic large cell lymphomas. Pathology international. 1998;48(3):171-8.
- 214. Duyster J, Bai RY, Morris SW. Translocations involving anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK). Oncogene. 2001;20(40):5623-37.
- 215. Lange K, Uckert W, Blankenstein T, Nadrowitz R, Bittner C, Renauld JC, et al. Overexpression of NPM-ALK induces different types of malignant lymphomas in IL-9 transgenic mice. Oncogene. 2003;22(4):517-27.
- 216. Jager R, Hahne J, Jacob A, Egert A, Schenkel J, Wernert N, et al. Mice transgenic for NPM-ALK develop non-Hodgkin lymphomas. Anticancer research. 2005;25(5):3191-6.
- 217. Piva R, Chiarle R, Manazza AD, Taulli R, Simmons W, Ambrogio C, et al. Ablation of oncogenic ALK is a viable therapeutic approach for anaplastic large-cell lymphomas. Blood. 2006;107(2):689-97.

- 218. Box JK, Paquet N, Adams MN, Boucher D, Bolderson E, O'Byrne KJ, et al. Nucleophosmin: from structure and function to disease development. BMC Molecular Biology. 2016;17(1):19.
- 219. Wang P, Wu F, Zhang J, McMullen T, Young LC, Ingham RJ, et al. Serine phosphorylation of NPM-ALK, which is dependent on the auto-activation of the kinase activation loop, contributes to its oncogenic potential. Carcinogenesis. 2011;32(2):146-53.
- 220. Amin HM, Lai R. Pathobiology of ALK+ anaplastic large-cell lymphoma. Blood. 2007;110(7):2259-67.
- 221. Damm-Welk Ć, Klapper W, Oschlies I, Gesk S, Rottgers S, Bradtke J, et al. Distribution of NPM1-ALK and X-ALK fusion transcripts in paediatric anaplastic large cell lymphoma: a molecular-histological correlation. British journal of haematology. 2009;146(3):306-9.
- 222. Ceccon M, Merlo MEB, Mologni L, Poggio T, Varesio LM, Menotti M, et al. Excess of NPM-ALK oncogenic signaling promotes cellular apoptosis and drug dependency. Oncogene. 2016;35(29):3854-65.
- 223. Shin S, Kim J, Yoon SO, Kim YR, Lee KA. ALK-positive anaplastic large cell lymphoma with TPM3-ALK translocation. Leukemia research. 2012;36(7):e143-5.
- 224. Zamo A, Chiarle R, Piva R, Howes J, Fan Y, Chilosi M, et al. Anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK) activates Stat3 and protects hematopoietic cells from cell death. Oncogene. 2002;21(7):1038-47.
- 225. Khoury JD, Medeiros LJ, Rassidakis GZ, Yared MA, Tsioli P, Leventaki V, et al. Differential expression and clinical significance of tyrosine-phosphorylated STAT3 in ALK+ and ALK- anaplastic large cell lymphoma. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research. 2003;9(10 Pt 1):3692-9.
- 226. Amin HM, McDonnell TJ, Ma Y, Lin Q, Fujio Y, Kunisada K, et al. Selective inhibition of STAT3 induces apoptosis and G(1) cell cycle arrest in ALK-positive anaplastic large cell lymphoma. Oncogene. 2004;23(32):5426-34.
- 227. Marzec M, Kasprzycka M, Ptasznik A, Wlodarski P, Zhang Q, Odum N, et al. Inhibition of ALK enzymatic activity in T-cell lymphoma cells induces apoptosis and suppresses proliferation and STAT3 phosphorylation independently of Jak3. Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology. 2005;85(12):1544-54.
- 228. Lai R, Rassidakis GZ, Lin Q, Atwell C, Medeiros LJ, Amin HM. Jak3 activation is significantly associated with ALK expression in anaplastic large cell lymphoma. Human pathology. 2005;36(9):939-44.
- 229. Han Y, Amin HM, Frantz C, Franko B, Lee J, Lin Q, et al. Restoration of shp1 expression by 5-AZA-2'-deoxycytidine is associated with downregulation of JAK3/STAT3 signaling in ALK-positive anaplastic large cell lymphoma. Leukemia. 2006;20(9):1602-9.
- 230. Honorat JF, Ragab A, Lamant L, Delsol G, Ragab-Thomas J. SHP1 tyrosine phosphatase negatively regulates NPM-ALK tyrosine kinase signaling. Blood. 2006;107(10):4130-8.

- 231. Han Y, Amin HM, Franko B, Frantz C, Shi X, Lai R. Loss of SHP1 enhances JAK3/STAT3 signaling and decreases proteosome degradation of JAK3 and NPM-ALK in ALK+ anaplastic large-cell lymphoma. Blood. 2006;108(8):2796-803.
- 232. Polgar D, Leisser C, Maier S, Strasser S, Ruger B, Dettke M, et al. Truncated ALK derived from chromosomal translocation t(2;5)(p23;q35) binds to the SH3 domain of p85-PI3K. Mutation research. 2005;570(1):9-15.
- 233. Gu TL, Tothova Z, Scheijen B, Griffin JD, Gilliland DG, Sternberg DW. NPM-ALK fusion kinase of anaplastic large-cell lymphoma regulates survival and proliferative signaling through modulation of FOXO3a. Blood. 2004;103(12):4622-9.
- 234. Riera L, Lasorsa E, Ambrogio C, Surrenti N, Voena C, Chiarle R. Involvement of Grb2 adaptor protein in nucleophosmin-anaplastic lymphoma kinase (NPM-ALK)-mediated signaling and anaplastic large cell lymphoma growth. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2010;285(34):26441-50.
- 235. Degoutin J, Vigny M, Gouzi JY. ALK activation induces Shc and FRS2 recruitment: Signaling and phenotypic outcomes in PC12 cells differentiation. FEBS letters. 2007;581(4):727-34.
- 236. Marzec M, Kasprzycka M, Liu X, Raghunath PN, Wlodarski P, Wasik MA. Oncogenic tyrosine kinase NPM/ALK induces activation of the MEK/ERK signaling pathway independently of c-Raf. Oncogene. 2007;26(6):813-21.
- 237. Soda M, Choi YL, Enomoto M, Takada S, Yamashita Y, Ishikawa S, et al. Identification of the transforming EML4-ALK fusion gene in non-small-cell lung cancer. Nature. 2007;448(7153):561-6.
- 238. Solomon B, Varella-Garcia M, Camidge DR. ALK gene rearrangements: a new therapeutic target in a molecularly defined subset of non-small cell lung cancer. Journal of thoracic oncology : official publication of the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer. 2009;4(12):1450-4.
- 239. Choi YL, Takeuchi K, Soda M, Inamura K, Togashi Y, Hatano S, et al. Identification of novel isoforms of the EML4-ALK transforming gene in non-small cell lung cancer. Cancer research. 2008;68(13):4971-6.
- 240. Soda M, Takada S, Takeuchi K, Choi YL, Enomoto M, Ueno T, et al. A mouse model for EML4-ALK-positive lung cancer. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2008;105(50):19893-7.
- 241. Iyevleva AG, Raskin GA, Tiurin VI, Sokolenko AP, Mitiushkina NV, Aleksakhina SN, et al. Novel ALK fusion partners in lung cancer. Cancer letters. 2015;362(1):116-21.
- 242. George RE, Sanda T, Hanna M, Frohling S, Luther W, 2nd, Zhang J, et al. Activating mutations in ALK provide a therapeutic target in neuroblastoma. Nature. 2008;455(7215):975-8.
- 243. Chen Y, Takita J, Choi YL, Kato M, Ohira M, Sanada M, et al. Oncogenic mutations of ALK kinase in neuroblastoma. Nature. 2008;455(7215):971-4.
- 244. Janoueix-Lerosey I, Lequin D, Brugieres L, Ribeiro A, de Pontual L, Combaret V, et al. Somatic and germline activating mutations of the ALK kinase receptor in neuroblastoma. Nature. 2008;455(7215):967-70.

- 245. Mosse YP, Laudenslager M, Longo L, Cole KA, Wood A, Attiyeh EF, et al. Identification of ALK as a major familial neuroblastoma predisposition gene. Nature. 2008;455(7215):930-5.
- 246. Rodig SJ, Shapiro GI. Crizotinib, a small-molecule dual inhibitor of the c-Met and ALK receptor tyrosine kinases. Current opinion in investigational drugs. 2010;11(12):1477-90.
- 247. Ou SH, Bazhenova L, Camidge DR, Solomon BJ, Herman J, Kain T, et al. Rapid and dramatic radiographic and clinical response to an ALK inhibitor (crizotinib, PF02341066) in an ALK translocation-positive patient with non-small cell lung cancer. Journal of thoracic oncology : official publication of the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer. 2010;5(12):2044-6.
- 248. Shaw AT, Yeap BY, Solomon BJ, Riely GJ, Gainor J, Engelman JA, et al. Effect of crizotinib on overall survival in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer harbouring ALK gene rearrangement: a retrospective analysis. The Lancet Oncology. 2011;12(11):1004-12.
- 249. Shaw AT, Engelman JA. Ceritinib in ALK-rearranged non-small-cell lung cancer. The New England journal of medicine. 2014;370(26):2537-9.
- 250. Kodama T, Hasegawa M, Takanashi K, Sakurai Y, Kondoh O, Sakamoto H. Antitumor activity of the selective ALK inhibitor alectinib in models of intracranial metastases. Cancer chemotherapy and pharmacology. 2014;74(5):1023-8.
- 251. Awad MM, Shaw AT. ALK inhibitors in non-small cell lung cancer: crizotinib and beyond. Clinical advances in hematology & oncology : H&O. 2014;12(7):429-39.
- 252. Katayama R, Friboulet L, Koike S, Lockerman EL, Khan TM, Gainor JF, et al. Two novel ALK mutations mediate acquired resistance to the next-generation ALK inhibitor alectinib. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research. 2014;20(22):5686-96.
- 253. Malcolm TIM, Villarese P, Fairbairn CJ, Lamant L, Trinquand A, Hook CE, et al. Anaplastic large cell lymphoma arises in thymocytes and requires transient TCR expression for thymic egress. Nature communications. 2016;7:10087.
- 254. Barger CJ, Zhang W, Hillman J, Stablewski AB, Higgins MJ, Vanderhyden BC, et al. Genetic determinants of FOXM1 overexpression in epithelial ovarian cancer and functional contribution to cell cycle progression. Oncotarget. 2015;6(29):27613-27.
- 255. Lee J, Sadelain M, Brentjens R. Retroviral transduction of murine primary T lymphocytes. Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, NJ). 2009;506:83-96.
- 256. Wu KK. Analysis of Protein-DNA Binding by Streptavidin-Agarose Pulldown. In: Bina M, editor. Gene Mapping, Discovery, and Expression: Methods and Protocols. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press; 2006. p. 281-90.
- 257. Tufekci O, Yandim MK, Oren H, Irken G, Baran Y. Targeting FOXM1 Transcription Factor In T-Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. Blood. 2013;122(21).
- 258. Leung TWC, Lin SSW, Tsang ACC, Tong CSW, Ching JCY, Leung WY, et al. Over-expression of FoxM1 stimulates cyclin B1 expression. Febs Lett. 2001;507(1):59-66.
- 259. Khan I, Zia M, Halasi M, Gann P, Gaitonde S, Gartel A. FOXM1 Binds Nucleophosmin in AML and Confers Resistance to Chemotherapy. Blood. 2015;126(23).

- 260. Chen X, Muller GA, Quaas M, Fischer M, Han N, Stutchbury B, et al. The Forkhead Transcription Factor FOXM1 Controls Cell Cycle-Dependent Gene Expression through an Atypical Chromatin Binding Mechanism. Molecular and Cellular Biology. 2013;33(2):227-36.
- 261. Tanaka N, Zhao M, Tang L, Patel AA, Xi Q, Van HT, et al. Gain-of-function mutant p53 promotes the oncogenic potential of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cells by targeting the transcription factors FOXO3a and FOXM1. Oncogene. 2018;37(10):1279-92.
- 262. Ahmad A, Wang ZW, Kong DJ, Ali S, Li YW, Banerjee S, et al. FoxM1 down-regulation leads to inhibition of proliferation, migration and invasion of breast cancer cells through the modulation of extra-cellular matrix degrading factors (Retraction of vol 122, pg 337, 2010). Breast Cancer Res Tr. 2016;158(3):607-.
- 263. Wang ZB, Zheng Y, Park HJ, Li J, Carr JR, Chen YJ, et al. Targeting FoxM1 Effectively Retards p53-Null Lymphoma and Sarcoma. Mol Cancer Ther. 2013;12(5):759-67.
- 264. Buchner M, Park E, Geng HM, Klemm L, Flach J, Passegue E, et al. Identification of FOXM1 as a therapeutic target in B-cell lineage acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Nat Commun. 2015;6.
- 265. Falini B, Bigerna B, Fizzotti M, Pulford K, Pileri SA, Delsol G, et al. ALK expression defines a distinct group of T/null lymphomas ("ALK lymphomas") with a wide morphological spectrum. The American journal of pathology. 1998;153(3):875-86.
- 266. Zhang SC, Gong AH, Wei P, Zhou AD, Yao J, Yuan Y, et al. FoxM1 drives a feedforward STAT3-activation signaling loop to promote the self-renewal and tumorigenicity of glioblastoma stem cells. Cancer Res. 2015;75.
- 267. Li Z, Boone D, Hann SR. Nucleophosmin interacts directly with c-Myc and controls c-Myc-induced hyperproliferation and transformation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2008;105(48):18794.
- 268. Lin J, Kato M, Nagata K, Okuwaki M. Efficient DNA binding of NF-κB requires the chaperone-like function of NPM1. Nucleic acids research. 2017;45(7):3707-23.